
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry
Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT

Tel:  01546 605522  Fax:  01546 604435
DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD

e.mail –douglas.hendry@argyll-bute.gov.uk

23 June 2020

NOTICE OF MEETING

A Special meeting of the ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL will be held BY SKYPE on TUESDAY, 
30 JUNE 2020 at 10:30 AM, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY)

3. BEST VALUE ASSURANCE REPORT - ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL
Report by Chief Executive (Pages 3 - 76)

4. CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19) - REVIEW OF THE CONTINUED ROLE OF THE 
BUSINESS CONTINUITY COMMITTEE
Report by Executive Director with responsibility for Legal and Regulatory Support 
(Pages 77 - 100)

 ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL

Contact: Sandra Campbell  Tel: 01546 604401

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                                         SPECIAL COUNCIL

CHIEF EXECUTIVE      30 JUNE 2020

AUDIT SCOTLAND/ ACCOUNTS COMMISSION STATUTORY REPORT AND 
COUNCIL ACTION PLAN

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The purpose of this report is to advise members of the Accounts Commission 
findings on the Controller of Audits Statutory Report on the Council and to advise 
on the statutory requirements in relation to the Council’s consideration of the 
Commissions’ Findings.

1.2. Members are also asked to consider the draft action plan in response to the 
findings.

 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                                         SPECIAL COUNCIL

CHIEF EXECUTIVE                                           30 JUNE 2020

AUDIT SCOTLAND/ ACCOUNTS COMMISSION STATUTORY REPORT AND 
COUNCIL ACTION PLAN

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 The purpose of this report is to advise members of the Accounts Commission 
Findings on the Controller of Audit Scotland’s Statutory Report on the Council 
and to advise on the statutory requirements in relation to the Council’s 
consideration of the Commission’s Findings.

2.2 Members are asked to consider the draft action plan in response to the report; a 
copy is available at appendix 2.

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Council welcomes the findings, particularly in relation to the progress the 
Council has made; the significantly improved relationships amongst elected 
members and between members and officers, which provide a sound basis for 
tackling future challenges, and the council’s sound approach to financial 
planning and budgeting which has allowed it to achieve financial balance in the 
short term.

3.2 Agrees to accept the recommendations and the development of an action plan 
to take forward the Statutory Report and Accounts Commission findings. 

3.3 Agree the draft action in appendix 2 which sets out how the Council will 
implement the recommendations of the report.

Page 4



4.0 DETAIL

4.1 All Elected Members have already been provided with a copy of the Statutory 
Report and Findings on Argyll and Bute Council which is attached to this report 
as Appendix 1. 

4.2 In terms of Section 103E of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, the 
Council require to consider the Commission’s findings at a meeting of the Council 
within three months of receiving them or within such longer period as the 
Commission may specify in writing.  This duty must be discharged by the Council.  

4.3 At least seven days before the meeting, there must be published in a newspaper 
circulating in the area of the local authority  a notice stating the time and place of 
the meeting, indicating that the meeting is to be held to consider the findings of 
the Accounts Commission and any recommendations.    Arrangements have been 
made for a notice to this effect to be published in the Press and Journal on the 22 
June.

4.4       As soon as practicably after the Council meeting, the Commission must be notified 
of any decisions made and the Council must also publish in a newspaper 
circulating in the area of the local authority a notice containing a summary, 
approved by the Commission, of the Council’s decision.  

4.5 Since receipt of the report a member’s webinar was held on the 05 May to discuss 
the findings and recommendations of the report.

4.6 It is recommended that Council welcomes the findings, particularly in relation to 
the progress the Council has made; the significantly improved relationships 
amongst elected members and between members and officers, which provide 
a sound basis for tackling future challenges, and the council’s sound approach 
to financial planning and budgeting which has allowed it to achieve financial 
balance in the short term.

4.7 As for all councils, the Accounts Commission also identified areas for the 
council to focus its continued improvement upon such as: improve how we 
manage and report performance, deliver more significant transformation and 
redesign of service, and engage staff fully in planning and implementing 
change; this work is expected to help provide the basis for an enhanced long-
term financial plan.

4.8 The Accounts Commission also recommends that the council increases pace 
and depth of improvement, making more use of the potential to engage and 
empower local communities. In recommending this however the Commission 
acknowledges the significant challenges in an area as extensive and varied, 
with declining and sparsity of population, as Argyll and Bute.

Page 5



4.9     The Accounts Commission recognises that the work for this audit was done 
prior to the onset of the current Covid-19 emergency and the significant 
pressures which local government finds itself in this current situation.  

4.10    A draft action plan is attached at appendix 2 for the consideration of members 
and has been prepared to take account of the findings of the report and the 
changing situation as a result of covid 19.  

4.11 The Council will be provided updates on the action plan periodically.  As some 
areas of work develop it may be appropriate to be report progress to other 
forums.   

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 The Council requires to a) consider the Statutory Report prepared by the 
Controller of Audit and the findings and b) the draft action plan in response to the 
report.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy; the Council requires to have fully regard to the terms of the Accounts 
Commissions findings.

6.2 Financial; none at this time.

6.3 Legal; the Council requires to comply with the statutory requirements. 

6.4 HR; none

6.5 Fairer Scotland Duty: none

6.5.1   Equalities - protected characteristics; none

6.5.2   Socio-economic Duty; none

6.5.3 Islands; none

6.6. Risk; failure to comply with the requirements could result in action by the 
Accounts Commission.

6.7 Customer Service; none.

Pippa Milne

Chief Executive

01 June 2020

Page 6



APPENDICES

Appendix 1; Best Value Assurance Report, Argyll and Bute Council, Accounts 
Commission.

Appendix   2; Draft Action Plan

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Prepared by Audit Scotland
May 2020

Best Value Assurance Report

Argyll and Bute 
Council

Page 9



Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General 
for Scotland and the Accounts Commission check that organisations 
spending public money use it properly, efficiently and effectively.

The Accounts Commission
The Accounts Commission is the public spending watchdog for local 
government. We hold councils in Scotland to account and help them improve. 
We operate impartially and independently of councils and of the Scottish 
Government, and we meet and report in public.

We expect councils to achieve the highest standards of governance and 
financial stewardship, and value for money in how they use their resources 
and provide their services.

Our work includes:

• securing and acting upon the external audit of Scotland’s councils  
and various joint boards and committees

• assessing the performance of councils in relation to Best Value and 
community planning

• carrying out national performance audits to help councils improve  
their services

• requiring councils to publish information to help the public assess  
their performance.

You can find out more about the work of the Accounts Commission on  
our website: www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/accounts-commission 

Page 10

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/accounts-commission


Best Value Assurance Report: Argyll and Bute Council   | 3

Contents

Links
PDF download

Web link

Key facts 4

Commission findings 5

Audit approach 6

Key messages 8

Part 1. Does the council have clear strategic direction?  10

Part 2. How well is the council performing? 17

Part 3. Is the council using its resources effectively? 30

Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners? 38

Part 5. Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement? 50

Recommendations 58

Endnotes 59

Appendix 60

Page 11



4 |

Key facts

Tobermory

Calgary Bridge of Orchy

Dalmally
Oban

Kilmelford

Inveraray Arrochar

Lochgilphead

Crinan

Helensburgh
Dunoon

Rothesay
Tarbert

Tighnabruaich

Ardrishaig

Port Ellen

Campbeltown

Kilcreggan

1. Revenue budget covers day-to-day costs like wages.
2. Capital budget covers the cost of major projects such as schools and roads.

2,668
square 
miles

86,260 4,771 36

Area Population Workforce
(headcount)

0 £195.4
million

 
£41.6
million

£9.8–£34.9
million

Council houses 2020/21  
revenue budget1

2020/21  
capital budget2

Budget gap  
2020–23

Elected members
11  Scottish National Party
9  Conservative and

0     Unionist
10   Independent
6   Scottish Liberal Democrat

Page 12



Commission findings   | 5

Commission findings

1 The Commission accepts the Controller of Audit’s report on Best Value in 
Argyll and Bute Council and we endorse his recommendations.

2 The work for this audit was done prior to the onset of the current  
Covid-19 emergency. The Commission recognises the significant 
pressures under which local government finds itself in this current 
situation. Equally the Commission is of the firm view that the principles 
of sound financial management, good governance, public accountability 
and transparency remain vital.

3 The Commission, having consulted with the Controller of Audit and 
Argyll and Bute Council on the current situation, has proceeded with 
considering the Controller’s report and publishing these findings. This is 
to allow the council to use these findings and recommendations to inform 
decisions on how it provides services to the people of Argyll and Bute.

4 The Commission welcomes the progress made by the council since a 
series of statutory Commission reports in October 2013, July 2014 and 
December 2015. We are pleased to note in particular the significantly 
improved relationships amongst elected members and between 
members and officers, which provide a sound basis for tackling  
future challenges.

5 The council’s sound approach to financial planning and budgeting has 
allowed it to achieve financial balance in the short term but, to continue to 
achieve this in the future, substantial work will be required to deliver more 
significant transformation and redesign of services. This work can also 
help provide the basis for an enhanced long-term financial plan.

6 The council needs to improve how it manages and reports performance. 
This should provide the basis for more effective use of self-evaluation to 
guide its performance improvements. This will also help make clearer to 
stakeholders what progress it is making on key outcomes and objectives 
and how it intends to address areas of service underperformance.

7 There is therefore still some way to go: we urge significantly increased 
pace and depth of improvement and in doing so making greater use of 
the potential for engaging, enabling and empowering the communities of 
Argyll and Bute. We do however acknowledge the significant challenges 
in an area as extensive and varied, with declining and sparsity of 
population, as Argyll and Bute.

8 Further, while we note the council’s use of a sizeable temporary 
workforce, it will be important for the council to engage staff fully as it 
plans and implements change.

9 We encourage the council to make use of and respond to our findings 
as it reshapes for the future as well as facing the current challenging 
situation. We will retain an interest in its progress, and we expect the 
Controller of Audit to monitor this through the annual audit and inform  
us appropriately.

Page 13



6 |

Audit approach

1. The statutory duty of Best Value was introduced in the Local Government in 
Scotland Act 2003. The audit of Best Value is a continuous process that forms part 
of the annual audit of every council. Findings are reported each year through the 
Annual Audit Report. In addition, the Controller of Audit will present a Best Value 
Assurance Report to the Accounts Commission at least once during the five-year 
audit appointment for each council. This is the first Best Value Assurance Report on 
Argyll and Bute Council. The findings from the last Best Value report on the council 
are summarised in Exhibit 12 (page 52).

2. This report seeks to provide the Commission with assurance on the council’s 
statutory duty to deliver Best Value, with a particular focus on the Commission’s 
strategic audit priorities. We are looking for councils to demonstrate Best Value by 
showing continuous improvement in how they deliver services. The pace and depth 
of this improvement is key to how well councils meet their priorities in the future.

3. Our audit approach is proportionate, and risk based and so is reflective of the 
context, risks and performance of the individual council. It also draws on the 
intelligence from audit and scrutiny work carried out in previous years. In keeping 
with this approach, we conducted some initial work to identify risks and council 
initiatives to build into the scope of our audit. This included a review of previous audit 
and inspection reports and intelligence, a review of key council documents, initial 
meetings with senior officers and reflection on our wider public-sector knowledge 
and experience. Key areas of focus for our audit are listed in Exhibit 1 (page 7).

4. The detailed audit work for this report was undertaken between November to 
December 2019 and January 2020. Our audit work included: 

• interviews with elected members and senior officers

• holding focus groups with members of staff

• observing a range of council and committee meetings

• reviewing documents and analysing data, including Local Government 
Benchmarking Framework (LGBF) data

• interviewing a sample of the council’s partners, including those involved in the 
Community Planning Partnership (CPP). 

5. The audit work was carried out by Audit Scotland, the appointed auditor. Audit 
work in future years, performed as part of annual audits, will include a follow-up 
on the findings from this report and additional audit work on other Best Value 
characteristics as appropriate.

Page 14



Audit approach   | 7

6. Our analysis of the LGBF data in Exhibit 6 (page 22) reflects the complete 
set of 2017/18 results published by the Improvement Service in April 2019.  
For Exhibit 7 (page 23), we have used data published by the Improvement 
Service in January 2020, when a selection of indicators were updated to  
2018/19 data.

7. We gratefully acknowledge the cooperation and assistance provided to the 
audit team by all elected members and officers contacted during the audit.

Exhibit 1
Key areas of focus for our audit

The council's vision and strategic direction

This included assessing how well the leadership of the council works 
together to deliver the priorities identified in strategic documents. Our 
findings on this are in Part 1 of this report.

Performance and outcomes, including public performance 
reporting

This included an overall assessment of outcomes and performance and 
the council’s reporting on these, including to the public. Our findings on 
this are in Part 2 of this report.

Effective use of resources

We assessed how effectively the council plans its use of resources, 
including financial and workforce planning. Our findings on this are in 
Part 3 of this report.

Partnership and collaborative working

We assessed how the council delivers services and its collaboration 
with partners to drive economic and cultural improvements. We also 
considered how well services are developed in collaboration with 
others and how community engagement and empowerment affect the 
council’s activities and delivery of services. Our findings on this are in 
Part 4 of this report.

Transformational agenda, including sustainable economic growth

We reviewed the council’s continuous improvement programmes, 
including assessing the overall pace and depth of change. Our findings 
on this are in Part 5 of this report.

Source: Audit Scotland

Page 15



8 |

Key messages

1 Since the 2015 Best Value report, the council has worked hard to 
improve relationships among elected members and senior officers. 
There has been a significant improvement in the culture resulting in 
constructive and more focused decision-making. Members now need 
to build on this and make the difficult decisions required to sustain 
council services in the longer term.

2 The council and its partners share a strong commitment to the 
vision for Argyll and Bute. The council and its partners recognise the 
challenges, which includes a declining and ageing population, varied 
geography and population density, declining funding, and a growing 
economic dependence on the public sector.

3 The council is not yet in a position to demonstrate that it is achieving 
all aspects of Best Value. In some key areas the pace of improvement 
has been slow since the previous Best Value report in 2015. There is 
limited evidence of the council using performance information to drive 
improvement. The council’s performance reporting makes it difficult 
to conclude what progress has been made against its six corporate 
outcomes. 

4 Since 2014/15, the pace of improvement against LGBF indicators has 
been slower than in other councils in Scotland. The percentage of 
indicators in the top two quartiles increased, but around one-third of 
indicators are in the bottom quartile every year.

5 The council’s annual budget process and savings plans have 
successfully achieved financial balance through a focus on cost 
reductions. Although the council’s transformation programme 
has delivered some efficiencies and achieved small-scale savings 
further work is required by the council to better align its financial and 
transformation plans to drive meaningful change through new and 
innovative ways of working.

6 There have been a number of changes in the management structure 
during 2019, including the appointment of the new chief executive in 
December 2019. The changes to the senior management structure 
have been made in line with the council’s vision, and to help support 
the delivery of the council’s corporate outcomes. The restructuring 
has resulted in a loss of experience at a time of challenging priorities 
and decreasing resources. 

Page 16



Key messages   | 9

7 In addition to reducing employee numbers, the council makes 
extensive use of temporary contracts (20 per cent of the workforce). 
The 2018 employee survey highlighted issues with lines of 
communication from senior management. The council could do more 
to ensure it communicates and engages effectively with all staff. 

8 The council works well with partners including the third sector, youth 
groups, area community planning groups and business partners. The 
council needs to maximise its influence with key partners in delivering 
its vision, in terms of economic development, relevant business skills, 
opportunities for learners and the Argyll and Bute Rural Growth Deal.

9 The council has made good progress with the Community 
Empowerment Act, but it needs to make its processes easier to follow 
and accessible to all communities. Although there has been significant 
consultation there is scope to improve community engagement to 
make the approach more inclusive, achieve wider representation 
and build capacity to enable communities to take more ownership of 
decision-making.

Page 17



10 |

Argyll and Bute Council covers a diverse geographical area, with 
an ageing population placing additional demand on services 

8. Argyll and Bute Council covers over 2,668 square miles and is the second 
largest local authority by area in Scotland, accounting for almost nine per cent of 
the total Scottish land area. The current population is 86,260, giving a population 
density of approximately 12 people per square kilometre which is the third lowest 
in Scotland. There are 23 inhabited islands accounting for 17 per cent of the 
population, and 43 per cent of the population are classed as living in remote rural 
areas. The largest settlement is Helensburgh, with a population of 15,610 people. 
The physical geography of the area and the limited amount of land suitable for 
the development of the road network means there is a high level of reliance on 
ferries for travel.

9. The proportion of the population that is economically active is declining. As 
outlined in Exhibit 2 (page 11), the population of Argyll and Bute decreased 
by six per cent between 1998 and 2018 and this was mainly driven by a decline 
in the 25-44 age group. This is the third largest decline in population by council 
area in Scotland. Over the same period, Scotland’s population rose by seven per 
cent. Demographic change is putting additional demand on public services and 
increased pressure on public finances. 

Elected member relationships have improved significantly, 
resulting in constructive and more focused decision-making. 
Members now need to build on this and make the difficult 
decisions required to sustain council services in the longer term.

The council and its community planning partners share an 
ambitious vision.

Changes to the senior management structure have been made in 
line with the council’s vision, and to help support the delivery of 
the council’s corporate outcomes. These have resulted in a loss 
of experience at a time of challenging priorities and decreasing 
resources.

Part 1
Does the council have clear strategic 
direction? 

Page 18



Part 1. Does the council have clear strategic direction?   | 11

Exhibit 2
Population change of Argyll and Bute and Scotland, by age group between 1998 and 2018

= Argyll and Bute

TOTAL -6%

-8%

-2%

7%

3%

10%

28%

28%

= Scotland

-26%

-34%

39%

25%

-10-20-30 302010 40

Percentage point change

7%

31%

0

Age 25 to 44

Age 75 and over

Age 65 to 74

Age 45 to 64

Age 16 to 24

Age 0 to 15

Source: Audit Scotland using National Records of Scotland data

Page 19



12 |

10. The council recognises the challenges of a declining and ageing population, 
varied geography and population density, and the economic dependence on the 
public sector. The above challenges are mirrored in the profile and location of its 
workforce. The most recent population projections show that if current trends 
continue the population is expected to decline to 78,504 by 2041, a 9.9 per cent 
decrease from 2016. However, projected population change varies across the 
area; increases are projected for the areas around Oban, but the population is 
projected to decline in all other areas.

11. The council is the major employer in Argyll and Bute, with 4,771 employees 
located throughout the council area in 2017/18. The number of staff employed 
has decreased from 5,159 in 2010/11 (Exhibit 3). Twenty per cent of the 
council’s workforce are on temporary contracts and 46 per cent of employees 
are aged 50 or over. The main office locations are in Dunoon, Lochgilphead and 
Helensburgh, and account for 46 per cent of council employees. The geography 
of the area brings recruitment challenges caused by remote locations with fewer 
amenities, or limited employment opportunities for families of council staff in  
rural areas. 

Exhibit 3
Argyll and Bute Council’s workforce

Source: Audit Scotland using data provided by Argyll and Bute Council

Age profile of staff

Full-time equivalent permanent staff
2010/11: 3,350
2017/18: 3,065

FTE

Total staff employed
2010/11: 5,159
2017/18: 4,771

Staff on temporary 
contracts

46% 3%

Aged 50 or over Aged 25 or under

20%

Page 20

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Staff_locations.xlsx?web=1


Part 1. Does the council have clear strategic direction?   | 13

12. Across Argyll and Bute, the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation  
(SIMD) data, from 2020, identified:

• one data zone in Dunoon within the two per cent most deprived in Scotland

• one data zone in Helensburgh within the five per cent most deprived in 
Scotland 

• nine data zones in Rothesay, Campbeltown, Oban, Dunoon and Hunter’s 
Quay within the 15 per cent most deprived in Scotland. 

13. The council is aware of this and the work being carried out under the 
Campbeltown, Helensburgh, Oban, Rothesay and Dunoon (CHORD) regeneration 
project has sought to bring improvements to these areas, although the benefits are 
likely to be more long term (paragraphs 58 and 80).

The council and its community planning partners share an 
ambitious vision

14. The council’s vision and priorities are set out clearly in a number of key 
strategic documents. Elected members, senior officers and partners share a strong 
commitment to the vision for Argyll and Bute. The strategic documents are available 
to the public online and include:

• Argyll and Bute Outcome Improvement Plan 2013-2023 (ABOIP): the 
council’s and its community planning partners’ vision is that ‘Argyll and Bute’s 
economic success is built on a growing population’. The ABOIP originally 
developed that vision and the six outcomes, and the council later adopted 
them to ensure that both the Corporate Plan and the ABOIP were fully 
aligned. The six corporate outcomes are:

 – Our economy is diverse and thriving.

 – We have an infrastructure that supports sustainable growth.

 – Education, skills and training maximise opportunities for all.

 – Children and young people have the best possible start.

 – People live active, healthier and independent lives.

 – People will live in safer and stronger communities.

• Corporate Plan 2018-2022: this sets out the council’s mission, values and 
priorities, which are captured in six corporate outcomes and supported by 17 
business outcomes.

• Argyll and Bute Economic Strategy 2019-2023: this aims to help deliver 
the overarching vision of the ABOIP which has been agreed with the Scottish 
Government. The intention is that this will provide the foundation for the 
future implementation of the Rural Growth Deal  focusing on three main 
themes:

 – critical economic infrastructure: connecting to national and international 
markets

 – place and people: attracting skills, residents, visitors and businesses

 – smart growth: growing, doing more that works.

The Scottish 
Index of Multiple 
Deprivation
(SIMD) is a tool 
used by the Scottish 
Government to rank 
the relative level of 
deprivation across 
7,000 small areas 
(data zones) across 
Scotland. Due to the 
dispersed nature of 
rural communities, 
SIMD does not 
always accurately 
represent deprivation 
in rural areas such as 
Argyll and Bute. 

The Rural Growth 
Deal agreed in 
October 2019 will 
bring £50 million 
investment to Argyll 
and Bute. The Rural 
Growth Deal will 
be funded by the 
UK and Scottish 
governments.

Page 21



14 |

• Service plans (2019-22): each of the ten service plans include details of 
budgets for their contributions to one or more business outcomes. The 
plans set out success measures and service improvements, and how each 
of these link to the 17 business outcomes.

Changes to the senior management structure have been made in 
line with the council’s vision, and to help support the delivery of 
the council’s corporate outcomes. These have resulted in a loss 
of experience at a time of challenging priorities and decreasing 
resources

15. The senior management structure within the council has been revised several 
times since the last Best Value report to help support the delivery of the council’s 
corporate outcomes. Overall, the number of executive directors and heads of 
service has fallen by two (12 per cent) since 2016, including one post which was 
transferred to LiveArgyll, as detailed in Exhibit 4.

Exhibit 4
Changes in the senior management of Argyll and Bute Council between 
2016 and 2019

Year Executive Directors Heads of Service Total

2016    
         

    
17

2017   
         

     *
16

2018  
        

    
16

2019 
onwards  

        
     

15

 Council staff   Health and Social Care Partnership (Council)   Health and Social Care 
Partnership (NHS) * One post transferred to LiveArgyll 

LiveArgyll Leisure and Libraries Trust was established in September 2017. LiveArgyll 
runs community centres, fitness centres, gyms, halls, museums and libraries across 
the council area.

Note: Figures exclude the council’s Chief Executive and Head of Strategic Finance and the Chief 
Officer of the Health and Social Care Partnership. The Strategic Management Team (SMT) is 
currently made up of the Chief Executive, two executive directors, two heads of service (the Head 
of Strategic Finance and the Head of Customer Support Services), and the Chief Officer for the 
Health and Social Care Partnership.

Source: Audit Scotland using Argyll and Bute council’s organisational charts. 

16. Changes to the senior management structure have been made in line with 
the council’s vision, and to help support the delivery of the council’s corporate 
outcomes. The council believes that commercialisation will play a central role in 
the council’s progress towards its vision. To take this forward a new position of 
head of commercial services was established in June 2019 (paragraph 158).

Page 22



Part 1. Does the council have clear strategic direction?   | 15

17. However, the overall reduction in the senior management team has occurred 
at a time of challenging priorities and increasing demands together with higher 
and growing expectations on the council to deliver meaningful change. The loss 
of senior staff represents a reduction in experience which may make it more 
difficult for the council to achieve the transformational change needed to support 
its strategic priorities.

18. The council’s new chief executive was appointed in December 2019. As this 
was an internal appointment there is a vacancy at executive director level. This 
is currently being filled on a temporary basis by the Head of Strategic Finance. 
The council has started the recruitment process to permanently fill the post. 
The relatively new senior management team needs to support the new Chief 
Executive in increasing the current pace of change to realise the vision of the 
council and  
its partners.

Elected member relationships have improved significantly, 
resulting in constructive and more focused decision-making

19. The council has 36 elected members with a broad political make-up, 
representing 11 multi-member wards (Exhibit 5). 

20. Following the 2017 local government elections, a coalition administration 
was formed called the Argyll, Lomond and the Islands group, made up of 21 
Independent, Conservative and Unionist and Liberal Democrat councillors. The 
main opposition is the Scottish National Party Group. Sixteen new members 
across all parties were elected in 2017.

Exhibit 5
Political make-up of Argyll and Bute Council

Scottish National Party

Independent

Conservative and Unionist

Liberal Democrats
11

10

6

9

Source: Audit Scotland using information from Argyll and Bute Council

Page 23



16 |

21. Relationships between officers and elected members are positive and 
constructive. In our 2013 statutory report , the Commission commented that 
it was seriously concerned about the substantial risks to the council caused by 
the instability of leadership by elected members and that the council’s current 
political management arrangements were not fit for purpose. In our 2015 report, 
the Commission welcomed the improving relationships between political groups 
and between members and officers but noted with disquiet the dysfunctional 
relationships which persist between a number of individuals. Since our last Best 
Value report in 2015, relationships between elected members have improved 
significantly including the relationship between the administration and the 
opposition groups. The current political set-up is productive and collegiate, with 
elected members committed to working together to improve Argyll and Bute for 
the benefit of their communities.

22. Elected members demonstrate a good understanding of the issues the 
council faces. The council has a policy lead structure where members of the 
administration have responsibility for different areas of council operations and 
objectives. Policy leads provide verbal updates at council meetings and take 
questions on their areas of responsibility. The format and operation of the policy 
lead structure helps promote discussion on key issues and member accountability 
for the delivery of council priorities.

23. In 2018/19 the council approved a consensus budget for the year where all 
council members unanimously agreed the spending priorities, demonstrating a 
commitment to improved cross-party working. This approach has provided a clear 
precedent for the council to maximise the opportunities for cross-party working 
to support the increasingly difficult decisions to be made in the medium term.

Members need to take advantage of the training opportunities 
provided to remain aware of, and respond to, the demands, 
challenges and expectations made of a modern elected member

24. The council provides a good level of training for members, with courses 
taking place throughout the year covering a range of topics relevant to their roles 
and linked to the council priorities. The council has also put in place arrangements 
to support members’ continuing professional development.

25. Member attendance at training courses has been mixed, with a 55 per 
cent attendance rate over the last 18 months. During this period, ten members 
attended two or fewer training sessions.

26. Further action is required by elected members to review their individual 
training requirements with a view to agreeing tailored personal development plans 
to ensure that they deliver, and are able to respond to the demands, challenges 
and expectations of a modern elected member. The council needs to ensure 
the training it offers is flexible and provides sufficient resources and support for 
members in rural areas to access and complete training.

Page 24

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2013/sr_131029_argyll_bute_council.pdf


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 17

Part 2
How well is the council performing?

The council’s performance reporting makes it difficult for the 
council to demonstrate progress against its six corporate 
outcomes

27. The quality of the council’s performance reporting is mixed. There are some 
areas of good practice, for example at area committee level, and other areas where 
there is an opportunity for significant improvements to be made, for example in 
reports presented to strategic committees.

28. The council’s annual performance report provides a high-level summary of 
the current position of specific projects and some data under each of the six 
corporate outcomes (paragraph 14). It does not provide a balanced picture of 

The council has implemented policies that support its goals for 
population growth and economic development, but it has not 
monitored the impact of projects in a systematic way. 

Following five Education Scotland inspections over two years, 
the council has strengthened its leadership of education  
services and the council recognises that further improvements 
are required in services for vulnerable children and  
community learning.

There is limited evidence of the council using performance 
information to drive improvement. The council’s performance 
reporting makes it difficult to assess what progress has been 
made against its six corporate outcomes.

The pace of improvement against LGBF indicators has been 
slower than for other Scottish councils. The percentage of 
indicators in the top two quartiles has increased, but around 
one-third of indicators are in the bottom quartile every year.

Sickness absence for non-teaching staff has continued to 
increase and remains a significant challenge for the council  
to address.

Page 25

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/annual_report_20172018.pdf?csf=1&e=bw44KM


18 |

long-term trends in performance against targets or benchmarks. While the report 
includes commentary on the challenges the council faces and its actions to 
address these, it does not highlight where specific improvements are required.

29. The performance reports presented to strategic committees generally focus 
on the successes and challenges of individual projects. Performance reports 
could be improved through:

• consistent use and reporting of:

 – long-term trend data on performance against the success measures 
that underpin the business and corporate outcomes

 – timeframes for project completion

 – benchmarking and targets across services.

• improved commentary on indicators that are off track with clear links to 
which outcome this affects

• clear identification and monitoring of improvement actions 

• better alignment between the narrative on successes, progress against 
specific projects and the overall Red/Amber/Green rating for each  
business outcome.

30. Performance reports presented to the four area committees are more 
detailed and focus on the measures that are relevant to the specific area. They 
include targets, trends and narrative for each success measure. 

31. The council’s performance reporting does not provide information in an 
effective, systematic way to allow elected members to recognise areas of good 
practice or to challenge areas of poor performance. Elected members need to 
do more to challenge officers to improve the quality of performance reports, to 
ensure continuous improvement. 

Public performance reports do not provide a clear picture of how 
well the council is performing against its corporate outcomes

32. While all staff and elected members can interrogate performance data in 
the council’s intranet-based performance management system, the public have 
no opportunity to do so. Instead they must rely on committee reports and annual 
high-level summaries. 

33. The council recognises the need to improve public performance reporting. 
Improvements have already been made to the council website which makes 
it easier to navigate the performance reports, service plans and improvement 
activities. However, further improvements can be achieved by defining a single 
space on the council’s website where the public can view trends in satisfaction, 
service quality or performance against individual success measures and projects 
that underpin the corporate outcomes.

Page 26

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/argyll_bute_council_6_monthly_report_-_october_to_march.pdf?csf=1&e=TGN9kb&cid=09525b45-04f8-452f-8936-9e2a1ad58326
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s143164/Item%205%20-%20OLI%20-%20Final.pdf


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 19

CPP performance reports are more outcome-focused than council 
reports, but could still be improved

34. Performance reports presented to the Community Planning Partnership 
(CPP)  show trends in performance against key indicators relevant to each of 
the six corporate outcomes outlined in paragraph 14. For example, for the first 
outcome ‘Our economy is diverse and thriving’, the CPP reports include trend 
information for nine indicators. These include: 

• Net migration: In 2018 the trend continued of more people migrating  
out of Argyll and Bute (4,210) than coming into the area (4,130).

• Economic activity: The percentage of the working age population that 
is economically active has fluctuated since 2013, and at 21 per cent it 
remained below the figure for Scotland as a whole (23 per cent) in 2018.

• Visitor numbers increased by seven per cent between 2013 and 2017, but 
the figures have fluctuated each year. Employment in the tourism sector  
is increasing.

35. Because they use different performance management systems, the council 
does not routinely use the indicators that the CPP and LiveArgyll monitors. 
Performance indicators used by the CPP focus more on long-term outcomes 
compared to those used by the council and so help to better demonstrate 
progress towards the corporate outcomes. LiveArgyll performance reports 
to March 2019 demonstrate a positive position with increasing attendance at 
LiveArgyll’s facilities.

36. However, CPP reports could be further improved by the more consistent 
use of trends, benchmarks and targets, as well as providing more narrative 
around what has been delivered against each activity. It is not clear from the 
reported information how trends in outcomes are affecting different areas. The 
full partnership does not receive any regular update on performance reports for 
review and comment.

The council is making improvements to its performance 
management framework, but it is too early to conclude what 
impact this will have 

37. Since our last Best Value report in 2015 performance information has been 
streamlined. Following approval of the performance improvement framework in 
2017 the number of delivery outcomes underpinning the six corporate outcomes 
was reduced from 63 service outcomes to 17 business outcomes in 2018/19, 
with shared ownership across all services. Success measures also decreased 
from 331 to 175. The framework sets out clear guidelines for the structure of 
performance reports and the scrutiny process. It is too early to conclude what 
impact these improvements have had on supporting effective scrutiny and 
focusing on areas for improvement.

38. The council’s performance management system is not user-friendly. The 
system contains a large number of historical indicators that are no longer relevant 
to the council’s corporate outcomes. The council is continuing to improve its 
approach to performance management. This includes:

Community Planning 
Partnerships (CPPs) 
are statutory forums 
for councils, NHS 
boards and other 
public and third 
sector bodies, such 
as charities and 
voluntary groups, 
to work with local 
communities to plan 
and deliver better 
services. See  
Part 3 for more 
details on Argyll and 
Bute’s CPP.

Page 27

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/outcome_1_performance_information.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/outcome_1_performance_information.pdf


20 |

• developing a suite of outcome-focused ‘impact measures’ to improve 
measurement of long-term progress against the 17 business outcomes. 
This will include key indicators from the Local Government Benchmarking 
Framework (LGBF, paragraphs 42–52), the CPP and other national statistics 

• continuing to develop more effective scrutiny by training members and 
officers in the use of the performance management system 

• improving public performance reporting, including the exploration of 
alternative performance management systems and report structures.

39. As the council develops its approach to performance management, the 
number of success measures, benchmarks and targets is changing every year. 
This means there is a risk that the council is unable to report consistent trend 
information for its success measures. 

Performance has improved in more than half of the national 
community outcome indicators

40. Between 2014/15 and 2017/18, performance improved in 11 of the 18 
Community Planning Outcome Profile (CPOP) indicators.

1
 CPOP indicators are 

relevant to both the council and the CPP and help to assess whether or not the 
lives of people in a community are improving. Performance followed the national 
trend for all but six of the outcomes. Notable patterns relevant to Argyll and Bute 
include:

• business survival rates increased from 63.5 to 64.4 per cent, compared 
with a 2.4 percentage point reduction for Scotland (which had a business 
survival rate of 60.4 per cent in 2018/19).

• median weekly earnings increased by two per cent, compared with a 6.4 
per cent increase nationally. Argyll and Bute’s median earnings is the fourth 
lowest of all councils (£388.00 compared with £395.87 across Scotland).

• wellbeing increased by 0.4 points (compared to a 0.1 point decline 
nationally) and is the second highest score of all councils in Scotland.

2

41. However, the fragility index (a calculation based on total depopulation, the old 
age dependency ratio and rural depopulation) increased by 2.1 points and at 112.3 
is the highest score of all councils in Scotland (whose fragility index is 101.7)

3

National indicators show that the pace of improvement has been 
slower than for other Scottish councils

42. The LGBF is a national dataset that allows all Scottish councils to compare 
their performance relative to other councils for 79 indicators across a range 
of services. As the council does not have any housing stock, the five LGBF 
indicators for housing do not apply.

43. Since 2016/17 the council has presented its own analysis of LGBF indicators 
to its audit and scrutiny committee. In 2017/18 relevant sections were also 
presented to strategic committees. The analysis highlights key measures that 
are important to the council, and includes trend information, comparisons with 
family groups and a supporting narrative for each indicator. Of the 74 indicators 

Page 28

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:u:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/email_2_impact_measures_RE%20Argyll%20and%20Bute%20Council%20-%20BV3%20Performance%20Improvement%20Information%20OFFICIAL.msg?csf=1&e=J9lSgh
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/is-community-planning-outcomes-profile/
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B742AABF8-4136-4492-91A3-BD79603ECD24%7D&file=Final%20CPP%20Data%20-%20Mar%2019.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/lgbf_2017-18_all_services_combined_nocommentsfor_asc.docx?web=1
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s140248/Appendix%201%20-%20LGBF%202017-18%20Community%20Services%20PIs%2022082019%20Pre-Agenda%20Briefing%20of%20the%20Community%20Se.pdf


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 21

it analysed, 43 (58 per cent) were in the top two quartiles when ranked against 
all other Scottish councils. While the report does identify 24 indicators that are 
of particular interest to the council, there is no evidence of the council using this 
analysis to drive improvement activity.

44. Our quartile analysis of the LGBF data for all Scottish councils focused on 
44, mainly outcomes-based indicators between 2014/15 and 2017/18. Although 
the percentage of the council’s indicators in the top two quartiles increased from 
30 per cent in 2014/15 to 36 per cent in 2017/18, one-third of indicators have 
remained consistently in the bottom quartile each year (Exhibit 6, page 22). 
This includes the following indicators:

• four indicators relating to road condition

• percentage of unemployed people assisted into work from council-
operated / funded employability programmes 

• number of business gateway start-ups per 10,000 population

• proportion of properties receiving superfast broadband. 

45. These indicators are key aspects of the council’s ambition and vision. The 
position of indicators relating to road condition and the proportion of properties 
receiving superfast broadband reflect the challenges of Argyll and Bute as a 
remote and rural council (paragraph 8). In order to move from the bottom 
quartile, the council would either require a significant increase in funding in that 
service area, or investment from its partners (for example with broadband access).

46. For road classes A, B and C, the council has the highest percentage of 
roads in need of repair of all councils in Scotland . Audit Scotland’s 2016 
report Maintaining Scotland's roads  notes that the condition of Argyll 
and Bute’s roads improved between 2011/12 and 2014/15 but that it was not 
spending enough in 2014/15 to maintain the existing condition. Spending on 
roads has declined between 2014/15 and 2017/18 (Exhibit 7, page 23). 

47. In September 2019, a subset of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee reviewed 
the council’s approach to road resurfacing. After consulting experts and other 
councils, the report concluded that the council’s approach was robust. One 
recommendation was to adopt a risk-based approach to repairing defects and to 
incorporate these measures into the council’s performance management system.

The council has 
the fifth lowest 
density of A class 
roads of all Scottish 
councils (0.11 miles 
per square mile, 
compared to an 
average of 0.26 
miles). Approximately 
23 per cent of Argyll 
and Bute’s roads 
are constructed on 
peat, which means 
the roads are prone 
to movement. 
Where roads are in 
need of repair, the 
council’s strategy 
is to use surface 
dressing techniques 
rather than full 
reconstruction.

Page 29

https://www.improvementservice.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0025/11797/using-the-LGBF-supplement-jan-2020.pdf
https://www.improvementservice.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0025/11797/using-the-LGBF-supplement-jan-2020.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/nr_160804_maintaining_roads.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/nr_160804_maintaining_roads.pdf


22 |

48. Performance across all service areas is mixed. Exhibit 7 (page 23) and 
Exhibit 8 (page 25) demonstrate the trends for selected indicators by service 
areas. We have focused on areas that are key to supporting the council’s vision of 
economic success, as well as any notable trends. 

Exhibit 6
Argyll and Bute Council LGBF relative performance 2014/15 to 2017/18
The percentage of indicators in the top two quartiles increased from 30 per cent in 2014/15 to 36 per cent in 
2017/18, but around one-third of indicators are in the bottom quartile every year.

1st quartile 2nd quartile 3rd quartile 4th quartile

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f i
nd

ic
at

or
s

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2017/182016/172015/162014/15

18

12

33

27

12

18

27

33 27

26

29

8

21

33

20

16

Notes: 
1. Measuring council performance involved considering how all councils in Scotland are performing, ranked from lowest to highest, for 
each indicator. Relative performance against other councils was divided into four equal bands, or quartiles. The first quartile contains the 
best-performing councils for that indicator and the fourth quartile includes the poorest performing councils. 
2. The analysis is based on 44, mainly outcomes-based, indicators which were reported every year within the four-year period. The 
analysis excludes satisfaction or cost-based indicators where high or low cost cannot be easily determined as positive or negative. As 
Argyll and Bute does not hold data for indicators on housing these were excluded from the analysis, which is why the total is 90 per cent 
rather than 100 per cent.

Source: Source: Audit Scotland and Local Government Benchmarking Framework, Improvement Service, 2019

Page 30

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/LGBF%202018-19%20data%20summary.docx?web=1


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 23

Exhibit 7
Trends in performance for selected LGBF indicators for economic development, environmental and 
corporate services between 2014/15 and 2018/19

Corporate services

Rank in
family 

group1, 2

Trend 
since 

2014/15

Performance in the ten indicators related to economic development was mixed. While the council's 
relative investment in economic development and tourism is the sixth highest of all Scottish councils, 
progress against some economic outcomes lagged behind that for similar councils.*

% of vacant properties 
in town centres 8th

Number of Business 
Gateway supported 
start-ups per 10,000 
population**

7th

% of properties with 
access to superfast 
broadband***

 
4th 

* See paragraph 34 for a summary of the CPP’s performance indicators relating to the first corporate outcome 'Our economy is diverse  
and thriving'. 
** Population decline can explain this trend to some extent.
*** The council should continue to drive the broadband agenda with its partners to ensure coverage continues to improve.

Environmental services

Performance against the 14 LGBF indicators for environmental services is mixed. 
Waste disposal costs and road maintenance are significant challenges for the council.

% local A class roads 
in need of repair (rolling 
3 year average 2017/19) 
(paragraphs 46-47)

8th

Spend on roads (£ per 
km) (paragraphs 46-47)2

£7,764
£9,417

Spend on waste disposal 
(eg recycling and landfill) 
(net) (£ per premise)*2

£189
£97

*  Satisfaction with refuse collection declined over the same time period (paragraph 49). While the average tonnage of household 
waste collected in Argyll and Bute is low relative to other councils, waste disposal costs are high due to:

   •  the need for multiple waste disposal sites because of the varied geography and low population density of the council area  
(paragraph 8).

  •  an expensive and inflexible waste management contract that runs until 2026. This is limiting the opportunity to utilise alternative 
disposal methods. The council is currently liaising with the Scottish Government about its options regarding the future of the 
contract (as outlined in its draft waste strategy in September 2019).

  Legislation banning the landfill of biodegradable municipal waste is due to be enforced in January 2025. The council estimates that 
this will increase waste disposal costs by between £3.6 million and £6 million per year.

 Argyll and Bute 
 Scotland 

 Argyll and Bute Council's rank out of 32 councils 

 

Economic development

26

78

92
28

32

29

13

10

13

17

Arrows showing the trends since 2014/15 have been colour coded red (performance declining) and green 
(performance improving) where the direction of improvement is clear.

42

30

Page 31



24 |

Corporate services

Rank in 
family 

group1, 2

Trend 
since 

2014/15

Sickness absence* 
(average number of 
days per employee, 
non-teachers)

8th

Sickness absence 
(average number of 
days per teacher)

1st

*  The council reports that 30 per cent of sickness absences are due to stress and mental health issues. Despite a number of actions 
intended to maximise attendance and reduce stress in the workplace since 2014, sickness absence has continued to increase.

   In August 2019, the council published its wellbeing strategy 2019-24 which aims to reduce sickness absence by supporting mental, 
physical and financial wellbeing. The strategy does not clarify the specific actions the council plans to take, or the indicators and 
targets it will use to measure progress towards improving wellbeing. Health and wellbeing is also one of the seven priorities of the 
council’s 2018-22 workforce plan (paragraph 85).

 Argyll and Bute 
 Scotland 

 Argyll and Bute Council's rank out of 32 councils2

Notes:
1.  For these indicators, the Improvement Service group similar types of councils into family groups, based on their population density. 

Eight councils have similar population densities to Argyll and Bute: Scottish Borders, Dumfries and Galloway, Eilean Siar, Shetland 
Islands, Orkney Islands, Highland and Aberdeenshire.

2.  Scotland and family group rankings are based on ranking each council from best performing (rank 1) to worst performing (rank 
32 in Scotland or 8th in the family group). Cost based indicators have not been ranked because high or low cost cannot be easily 
determined as good or bad, without considering the context of individual council policies.

Source: Audit Scotland using the Local Government Benchmarking Framework, Improvement Service, January 2020. 

12         
         

5.7

6.2

             
           

14.0
11.5

30

Arrows showing the trends since 2014/15 have been colour coded red (performance declining) and green 
(performance improving) where the direction of improvement is clear.

Exhibit 7 continued

Page 32



Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 25

Exhibit 8
Trends in performance for selected LGBF indicators for education, childrens and adult social care 
services between 2014/15 and 2018/19

Education and childrens services

Rank in
family 

group1, 2

Trend 
since 

2014/15
Performance in the 31 indicators generally improved but declined in some key areas. 
Performance in 2018/19 is in line with or above the Scottish average for most indicators. 

% of children meeting 
developmental 
milestones at 27-30 
months (most recent data 
2017/18)3

4th

% of 16-19 year olds 
participating in training, 
learning or work

1st

Average  
tariff score*

857
3rd

892
% of child protection 
registrations that were 
re-registered within 18 
months (most recent data 
2017/18)**

8th 

*   Following a period of improvement since 2014/15, the average tariff score declined between 2017/18 and 2018/19. Between 2014/15 
and 2018/19 the average tariff score declined for Scottish Index for Multiple Deprivation (SIMD) quintiles two, three and four. The 
relative level of deprivation across Scotland is ranked from most deprived (SIMD 1) to least deprived (SIMD 5). The 2018/19 data 
was published in part in January 2020 and the council plan to analyse and report on this data once all indicators are published. The 
council report that outcomes in qualifications are evaluated on a school by school basis. 

**  This indicates that more children were being removed from the child protection register before necessary safeguards had been put 
in place. The council has committed to improving its approach to risk assessments (paragraph 52). At June 2019, there had been no 
child protection re-registrations in the previous 12 months.

Adult social care services 

Performance followed the national trend for most of the 11 indicators. 

% of older people with 
long-term care needs 
supported at home*

1st

Spend on providing care to 
support older people to 
live at home (£ per hour)**2

£21
£25

*   The council is in a good position and is continuing to work on increasing the number of older people with long-term care needs to remain at 
home.

**  The reduction in spend is opposite to the national trend where spend is increasing. Spend on residential care for older people in 
Argyll and Bute has also declined, which is in line with the national trend.

Notes:
1.  For these indicators, the Improvement Service group similar types of councils into family groups, based on their population density. 

Eight councils have similar population densities to Argyll and Bute: Scottish Borders, Dumfries and Galloway, Eilean Siar, Shetland 
Islands, Orkney Islands, Highland and Aberdeenshire.

2.  Scotland and family group rankings are based on ranking each council from best performing (rank 1) to worst performing (rank 32 in 
Scotland or 8th in the family group). Cost based indicators have not been ranked because high or low cost cannot be easily determined 
as good or bad, without considering the context of individual council policies.

3.  Data for this indicator was unavailable for six councils.

Source: Audit Scotland using the Local Government Benchmarking Framework, Improvement Service, January 2020. 

9

6

18

31

80

74

95

92

16

6

68
61

 Argyll and Bute  Scotland    Argyll and Bute Council's rank out of 32 councils2

Arrows showing the trends since 2014/15 have been colour coded red (performance declining) and green (performance improving) where 
the direction of improvement is clear.

6

Page 33



26 |

Service satisfaction improved in over half of the indicators but 
satisfaction with refuse collection has declined

49. Between 2012/15 and 2016/19 (using three-year rolling averages), satisfaction 
declined across most services at a national level, but the trends for the council 
are mixed (Exhibit 9, page 27). In 2018/19, satisfaction with: 

• schools, libraries and street cleaning exceeded that for Scotland

• schools declined in line with the national trends, but at 80 per cent it 
remains higher than the national figure of 72 per cent

• refuse collection was the lowest of all Scottish councils and declined from 
90 per cent in in 2012/15, to 59 per cent in 2016/19 (compared with  
76 per cent for Scotland). The council has not investigated the reasons for 
satisfaction levels (paragraph 51), but this trend coincides with the council 
moving to three-weekly collections of general waste in October 2016. 

50. Satisfaction with adult social care has declined in line with national trends 
and is below the national average for most satisfaction indicators. Compared to 
all councils across Scotland, Argyll and Bute has the second lowest proportion of 
care services rated good or better (71 per cent against a whole of Scotland rating 
of 82 per cent). Further work is required by the council in order to understand 
the reasons behind this trend. Improved satisfaction in museums and galleries, 
libraries, and leisure facilities coincide with the establishment of LiveArgyll in 2017, 
who continue to work hard to maintain the improved satisfaction levels. 

51. The sample sizes of national satisfaction surveys are generally low, and the 
council does not know the reasons behind satisfaction levels. The council should 
engage with communities to understand satisfaction rates to help improve 
service experience. 

52. While the council runs quarterly surveys on the quality of engagement with 
its customers, it does not routinely conduct customer surveys on the quality of 
the services it provides (for example, for refuse collection). This means it does 
not have a comprehensive understanding of the level of satisfaction across 
services, the reasons for this and where residents would like to see improvement 
activity focused.

Page 34

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/2018-19-lbgf-raw-data.xlsx?web=1


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 27

Following five inspections from Education Scotland over two years, 
the council has strengthened its leadership of education services 
and recognises that further improvements are required in services 
for vulnerable children and community learning

53. Between September 2016 and October 2018, Education Scotland carried out 
five inspections on the education functions of the council. The initial inspection in 
September 2016 identified a number of concerns about young people’s attainment, 
the use of data, communication and leadership in education services. Education 
Scotland recommended urgent and sustained action to address the issues 
and carried out a further four visits to monitor the council’s progress against its 
recommendations. 

54. Education Scotland’s final follow-up report in November 2018 noted 
improvements in attainment, that the council had strengthened its leadership, and 

Exhibit 9
Percentage point change in satisfaction between 2012/15 and 2016/19
Satisfaction improved for four of the seven LGBF satisfaction indicators.

Adults satisfied with: Percentage point change 

Local schools

Llibraries

Parks and open spaces

Museums and galleries

Leisure facilities

Refuse collection

Street cleaning

 Argyll and Bute
 Scotland 

Source: Audit Scotland using Local Government Benchmarking Framework data, Improvement 
Service, January 2020 

-2.2
-9.2

 1.6

-8.0

 1.7

15.2

 8.1

-1.2

-7.0

-6.6

-31.6

-7.0

-7.4

-8.0

Page 35

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Report%20by%20Education%20Scotland%20march%202017.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?sortField=Modified&isAscending=false&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FReport%20by%20Education%20Scotland%20march%202017%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/44%20Argyll%20Bute%20Council%20-%20Strategic%20Level%20Inspection%20-%20Further%20Inspecti.._%2027112018%20Pre-Agenda%20Br.pdf?csf=1&e=KckcuO


28 |

that staff worked with commitment to bring about a wide range of improvements. It 
plans no further visits in relation to the original inspection in 2016. 

55. In June 2019, Education Scotland reported on Community Learning and 
Development (CLD) partners within Argyll and Bute Council and in the area of 
Helensburgh and Lomond. While the report noted community organisations were 
ambitious, it made four recommendations, including strengthening partnership 
working, governance arrangements and performance management. The council has 
implemented improvement actions, but it is too early to conclude what impact these 
have had.

56. In March 2019 the Care Inspectorate reported on services for children and young 
people in need of care and protection in Argyll and Bute. It noted improvements in 
the wellbeing of children in need of care and protection, and that it was confident 
that Argyll and Bute had the capacity to continue to improve. The report identified 
a number of further improvements required in relation to the consistency of risk 
assessment, access to specialist services, performance management and strategic 
commissioning. In response to this report and the high level of re-registrations for 
child protection in 2017/18 (Exhibit 8, page 25), the council’s Child Protection 
Committee has committed to improving its approach to risk assessment and risk 
management, as well as improving the consistency of support to families after 
registration. At June 2019 there had been no child protection re-registrations in the 
previous 12 months.

The council has implemented policies to support its vision for 
population growth and economic development, but it has not 
monitored the impact of projects in a systematic way

57. Since 2015 the council has put in place a number of initiatives to attract people to 
visit the area and apply for local jobs. Two examples of this are:

• In October 2016 the council launched a £500,000 Rural Resettlement Fund, 
to incentivise new residents and businesses to relocate to Argyll and Bute. 
By September 2019, the fund had brought 193 people including 56 children 
to the area and the net Gross Value Added (GVA) of the fund was estimated 
to be just over £1.95 million. The availability of the fund, however, did not 
encourage any new businesses into the area and in May 2018 the council 
took the decision to repurpose the remaining £150,000 of the fund to assist 
the growth of existing small and medium-sized businesses.

• In November 2018 the council started an Instagram site to promote the area, 
introducing #abplace2b. Over 10 days in March 2019, a Facebook advert of 
#abplace2b was seen by 36,472 people. By March 2019 the council was the 
most followed Scottish council on Instagram. Council officers report that this 
has helped to raise the profile of the area and has increased the number of job 
applications it has received.

58. Over the past ten years the council has run a number of schemes to assist 
regeneration and economic development in some of its main towns. 

• The council and its partners (Historic Environment Scotland, the Heritage 
Lottery Fund and private business owners) have invested over £10 million in 
upgrading key properties in Campbeltown, Dunoon, Rothesay and Inveraray 
under the Conservation Area Regeneration Scheme (CARS). While the 
progress of these projects is regularly reported to the council, their economic 
impact has not yet been evaluated. 

Page 36

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s140282/External%20Education%20Establishment%20Inspection%20Report.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/4859/Joint%20inspection%20of%20services%20for%20children%20and%20young%20people%20in%20Argyll%20and%20Bute%20March%202019.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/lgbf_2017-18_all_services_combined_nocommentsfor_asc.docx?web=1
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=548&MId=8306&Ver=4
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/External%20Sharing%202019-2020/BV30212%20Instagram%20case%20study.docx?web=1
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/External%20Sharing%202019-2020/BV30214%20Comms%20marketing%20and%20web%20strategy%202018%20-%202020.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?q=abplace2b&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FExternal%20Sharing%202019%2D2020%2FBV30239%20Modern%20Apprentices%20Comms%20Group%20success%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence&parentview=7
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B0CF87583-3B52-44FC-81FD-213BC164465D%7D&file=SMT_emerging_messages_notes.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s121127/Transformation%20Projects%20Regeneration%20Team%20Update.pdf


Part 2. How well is the council performing?  | 29

• In 2008, the council agreed to provide almost £35 million for regeneration 
projects in Argyll and Bute, which was named CHORD (paragraph 80). 

 – In 2010, the council appointed a consultant to carry out socio-economic 
baseline reports and perception surveys for each of the five towns in the 
CHORD programme. Work first started on CHORD projects in 2010. 
The council established a comprehensive framework for monitoring and 
evaluating the outcomes at the end of each CHORD project, followed by 
an interim impact report in 2018 and a final report in 2020. 

 – By January 2020 the council had not reported progress against this 
framework for any of its projects. At March 2020 only one project closure 
report had been produced. This related to investment in the harbour 
area in Oban; a project that was completed in March 2018. The report 
concluded that performance surpassed the forecasts established in the 
business case, with a net increase in both people and vessels to the town.

59. Without a consistent approach to evaluating the economic impact of 
regeneration projects such as CARS and CHORD, there is no evidence that 
the council have assessed and understand which regeneration and economic 
development initiatives have achieved their objectives and contributed to the 
council’s vision and corporate outcomes. With the award of £50 million to support 
the council’s Rural Growth Deal in October 2019 the council will need to monitor 
and report on future projects to demonstrate they support the delivery of the 
council’s vision.

The council has demonstrated a commitment to incorporating 
equalities throughout its work and demonstrates clear examples of 
good practice

60. There is clear evidence of strategic collaborative working between the council 
and third sector organisations. External partners’ participation in the Equality Forum 
facilitates the continuous sharing of good practice and allows various groups to be 
better represented. 

61. The council has a comprehensive process for carrying out equality impact 
assessments on how projects or service changes affect those with protected 
characteristics. The impact assessments incorporate the Islands Act and the Fairer 
Scotland Duty Act and have been shown to genuinely affect final decisions where 
there is an impact on equalities. This practice has recently been shared with the 
Scottish Government and the Improvement Service as an example of good practice. 

62. The council has addressed concerns raised by Audit Scotland during work 
on the 2018/19 annual audit about the quality of its equalities training materials for 
staff. The council has developed its training materials and has rolled out mandatory 
equalities training for all staff, including staff without access to the IT network. 

63. The council has commitment from its members and senior officers to continue 
the headway it has made in equalities. The council is aware of barriers to equal 
opportunities and takes steps to address these. The council values diversity in its 
workforce and takes steps to provide equality of opportunity for all staff. 

Page 37

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/External%20Sharing%202019-2020/BV30916%20-%20EKOS%20CHORD%20Programme%20Summary%20Report.pdf?csf=1&e=CMuHxP
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/External%20Sharing%202019-2020/BV30915%20-%20EKOS%20Perceptions%20Surveys%20Summary%20-%20CHORD%20Programme.pdf?csf=1&e=PbB3U7


30 |

The council’s three-year budget recognises the financial 
pressures facing the council. The latest financial forecasts 
project a funding gap of between £9.8 million and £34.9 million 
between 2020/21 and 2022/23.

The council’s annual budget process and savings plans have 
successfully achieved financial balance through a focus on cost 
reductions. Although the council’s transformation programme 
has delivered some efficiencies and achieved small-scale savings 
further work is required by the council to better align its financial 
and transformation plans to drive meaningful change through 
new and innovative ways of working.

The council has good financial planning arrangements in place 
but could take steps to enhance its long-term strategy.

A more robust options appraisal process will ensure that 
decisions support social and economic outcomes.

A detailed strategic workforce plan is in place, but it is too 
early to comment on how successful this will be in creating a 
workforce able to deliver transformational change.

Staff feedback has highlighted concerns over job security and 
workforce pressures. 

Part 3
Is the council using its resources 
effectively?

The council’s three-year budget recognises the financial pressures 
facing the council. The latest financial forecasts project a funding 
gap of between £9.8 million and £34.9 million between 2020/21 and 
2022/23

64. The council estimates that there will be a budget gap of between £9.8 million 
(most optimistic) and £34.9 million (most pessimistic) over the three-year period 
2020/21 to 2022/23. These projections are largely as a result of an assumed 
drop in funding from the Scottish Government and increased costs as a result of 
pay inflation. In the longer term the council projects a funding gap of £60 million 
by 2027/28. These financial pressures will require the council to make difficult 
decisions in the future.

Page 38



Part 3. Is the council using its resources effectively?  | 31

65. In recent years Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board (IJB) has incurred 
recurring overspends. The council has funded £4.3 million and the IJB has 
agreed to repay this over the financial years 2019/20 to 2022/23. The council’s 
projections outlined above do not assume any additional overspend by the IJB. 
If the IJB incurs additional overspends or the repayment period is extended this 
will place additional financial pressure on the council and make it more difficult to 
achieve financial balance.

66. Historically, the council has maintained a consistent level of reserves 
although unallocated reserves have decreased by 28 per cent to £6.544 million 
since 2015/16. This reduction is in line with the council’s strategy and the balance 
remains within the council’s reserves policy.

The council has good financial planning arrangements in place 
but could take steps to enhance its long-term strategy

67. It is important that long-term financial strategies (typically covering five to 
ten years) are in place which link spending to the council’s strategies, and which 
reflect the impact of future pressures on the council.

68. The council has good financial planning arrangements in place based around 
its medium to long term financial strategy 2018/19 to 2027/28 approved mid-
way through 2017/18. The 2018/19 Annual Audit Report (AAR) confirmed that the 
strategy had been reviewed against the requirements set out in Scotland’s public 
finances – a follow-up audit: Progress in meeting the challenges  (June 
2014), noting some scope for improvement, but confirming that most requirements 
were present in the council’s strategy.

69. The strategy includes forecasts for revenue, capital and treasury 
management and details of plans to mitigate future budget gaps. The underlying 
principles previously agreed by the council provide a flexible framework within 
which the council can react to changing financial challenges.

70. The AAR recommended that the council should consider enhancing the long-
term strategy when it is next reviewed. In particular it should consider providing 
detailed financial plans for up to five years, providing details of changes in assets, 
liabilities and reserves over time and including an analysis of levels of service 
demand.

The annual budget process and savings plans have successfully 
achieved financial balance and the transformation programme 
has delivered some efficiencies and achieved small scale savings. 
Further work is required by the council to better align its financial 
and transformation plans to drive meaningful change through 
new and innovative ways of working 

71. The council has made efforts to engage with the public during the budget 
setting process through its website. It asks members of the public to submit their 
own priorities for the budget, along with suggestions for savings and income 
generation. The views of around 1,500 residents were collated and included in 
the council’s 2019/20 budget proposal in February 2019. Following agreement of 
the budget, the council produced a report detailing the impact of the consultation 
in May 2019.

Page 39

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr_140605_public_finances.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr_140605_public_finances.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2014/nr_140605_public_finances.pdf


32 |

72. The council has responded to its challenging budget outlook by creating 
savings plans to address the annual budget gap. Annual savings plans for 
the following year are created and considered by the Policy and Resources 
Committee. The final savings plan for each year is submitted to the full council for 
approval as part of the annual budget proposal.

73. The council reports its financial position, financial projections and savings plans 
regularly throughout the year to the Policy and Resources Committee. Financial 
reports are of a high quality and clearly explain the council’s financial position.

74. Our 2015 Best Value audit report noted that, ‘the council’s approach to 
meeting future financial challenges needs to improve. Options for longer-term 
savings are heavily based on low-level cuts to individual service budgets, rather 
than doing things differently.’ There has not been significant movement in this 
area and the council remains focused on cost reductions cuts.

75. Exhibit 10 summarises recent savings plans, and their impact. The council 
has focused on making savings through incremental cuts to budgets for core 
services or through the removal of non-statutory services. The proposals also 
outline the impact the savings will have in terms of staff reductions for the 
council.

76.  While the council has achieved a balanced budget and generated savings 
and efficiencies these will not address the budget gaps outlined in paragraph 64 
and do not support the transformational change required to achieve the council’s 
vision. The council recognises that it needs to be clearer in how it will focus on 
achieving the balance between generating required savings while successfully 
delivering the long-term ambition of service redesign at scale.

Exhibit 10
Council savings proposals in 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21

Savings proposals

Year

Anticipated 
savings in year  

(£ millions)

Anticipated  
reduction in staff  

in year (FTE) Approach

2018/19 0.621 6.3 Officers were asked to deliver a targeted level of 
savings within their service.

2019/20 1.986 55.8 Led by the Transformation Board the council 
reconsidered the budget in terms of services 
being broadly statutory or non-statutory.

2020/21 2.112 31.5 Officers were asked to deliver a targeted level of 
savings within their service.

Source: Audit Scotland using data provided by Argyll and Bute Council

Page 40



Part 3. Is the council using its resources effectively?  | 33

77. Although a three-year outlook is part of the council’s existing monitoring 
reports, as noted above it currently sets budgets on an annual basis. The council 
recognises that a three-year budget-setting process would support a more 
strategic financial decision-making process and is considering implementing this 
in the future. 

The council needs to put in place a robust options appraisal 
process to ensure that decisions support social and economic 
outcomes

78. The council approves the capital programme each year as part of the annual 
budget setting process. The Policy and Resources Committee monitors capital 
spending throughout the year. The council has generally good processes in place 
for monitoring and reporting spending on capital projects.

79. As the council embarks on the Rural Growth Deal (RGD) it needs to ensure 
it has robust processes in place to evaluate and successfully deliver projects, 
placing investment where it will best develop Argyll and Bute as a successful 
region. The council also needs to ensure it has the capacity and capability within 
its workforce to deliver the RGD.

80. As noted in Part 2 above, in November 2008, the council unanimously agreed 
to allocate almost £35 million to CHORD for the delivery of 16 projects, as a way of 
assisting regeneration and economic development in five of its waterfront towns: 

• Campbeltown £6.5 million

• Helensburgh £6.7 million 

• Oban  £6.9 million 

• Rothesay  £2.4 million

• Dunoon  £12.3 million.

81. The council expanded the programme and, to date, the cost of the  
16 projects has increased by approximately 40 percent to around £50 million.  
The additional cost of the projects has been shared with 75 per cent incurred  
by the council and the remaining 25 per cent met from external sources. 

82. The council’s process for reviewing business cases is not as strong as it could 
be. One of the CHORD projects was the refurbishment of Rothesay Pavilion 
(Case study 1, page 34). All 16 outline business cases were reviewed and 
scored, with Rothesay (Pavilion and Townscape Heritage combined) identified 
as the best option. As outlined in Case study 1, the Rothesay Pavilion CHORD 
project has overspent and missed the deadline for the project to be operational. 

Page 41



34 |

Case study 1
Rothesay Pavilion

The CHORD outline business case was approved by the council in 2008 
and included funding for the refurbishment of Rothesay Pavilion, a 
Category A listed building constructed in 1938. The outline business case 
scored Rothesay (Pavilion and Townscape Heritage combined) highest 
in terms of cost benefit. The council approved a full business case in 
2015, which planned to create a cultural and community hub within the 
pavilion with space for events, exhibitions and local business use. The 
Rothesay Pavilion Charity was created with the intention of leasing the 
completed pavilion from the council and taking on responsibility for its 
day-to-day running.

A number of issues have arisen during the project, in terms of both costs 
and completion:

• Capital Cost – The budget for the project has increased from £9.079 
million in 2015/16 to £13.845 million in 2019/20. Funding for the 
project is split between the council and various partners. During the 
period 2015/16 to 2019/20 the amount funded directly by the council 
has more than doubled from £2.620 million to £5.689 million.

• Delivery date – Rothesay Pavilion was originally planned to re-open 
in December 2018, however this is currently scheduled for April 2020.

• Running Costs – The Rothesay Pavilion Charity is to undertake 
day to day running of the pavilion and was set up for this purpose. 
Initial business plans required that the council contribute £0.150 
million each year for the first five years the pavilion is operational, 
and the council agreed this in September 2014. Revised estimates 
in 2019 have suggested that the approved business plan’s 
projections were optimistic and may require the council to 
contribute additional revenue funding.

 

Source: Audit Scotland using information provided by Argyll and Bute Council

83. When undertaking any capital regeneration project, it is essential to have 
robust governance arrangements in place to ensure:

• there is a sound business case 

External funding Council funding

£ 
 m

ill
io

ns

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Current (19/20)Original (15/16)

18

2.62

6.46 8.16

5.69

Increase in Rothesay Pavilion capital costs

Page 42



Part 3. Is the council using its resources effectively?  | 35

• a transparent options appraisal

• clear project management arrangements

• regular monitoring and reporting of project updates

• post completion review including an economic impact assessment.

84. To ensure the RGD supports the development of Argyll and Bute as a 
successful and prosperous region, elected members and officers should take 
the opportunity to learn from the challenges presented by the Rothesay Pavilion 
project and take actions to:

• ensure good governance arrangements for capital projects are 
systematically in place

• seek appropriate, evidence based, assurances that such arrangements are 
routinely applied to all capital projects

• satisfy themselves that such arrangements are used to drive informed 
decision-making at all levels in the council.

A detailed strategic workforce plan is in place, but it is too 
early to comment on how successful this will be in creating a 
workforce able to deliver transformational change

85. The council published its Strategic Workforce Plan in 2018. The workforce 
plan sets out the direction for the council’s workforce of the future. It identifies 
seven priorities for the next four years:

• Growing excellent leaders and managers 

• Talent management 

• Values and behaviours 

• Employee voice – involving and engaging our employees 

• Recognition and reward 

• Recruitment and retention 

• Health and wellbeing.

86. The council struggles to recruit to specific professional posts, including teaching, 
social work, engineering and planning. The Strategic Workforce Plan outlines its 
‘Growing Our Own’ scheme which develops staff already working within the 
council as well as reaching out to school students; providing them with advice 
and information about future careers with the council. As part of the scheme the 
council has developed a range of training positions including foundation, modern and 
graduate apprenticeships as well as professional traineeships.

Page 43



36 |

87. In its 2016 People Strategy, the council outlined plans to create 60 modern 
apprenticeship places by 2020. As at January 2020, 60 places had been offered, 
37 had been completed and 27 of these (73 per cent) had secured employment 
with the council. Eight apprentices dropped out early on in the scheme and 15 
modern apprentices were in training. 

88. Skills Development Scotland provides funding for apprenticeships at the 
council through an apprenticeship levy which is used to invest in both current 
and future employees. At April 2018, the council had received £20,000 funding 
to deliver foundation apprenticeships. The council now aims to increase grants 
for apprenticeships by focusing efforts on securing funding for foundation 
apprenticeships in teaching and social care and secured funding for 41 places in 
2019/20 and 47 places in 2020/21.

While the council has had some success in its ‘Growing Our 
Own’ scheme, it is too early to assess if this will be sufficient to 
address the shortfall in experienced staff required to support the 
transformational agenda

89. The council’s modern apprenticeship scheme has been successful in 
attracting new people to work for the council, but both total staff headcount 
and the number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) has continued to decrease since 
2010/11 (paragraph 11 and Exhibit 3, page 12). In addition, 46 per cent of all 
council employees are aged 50 or over and only three per cent of the workforce 
are aged 25 or under.

90. The council needs to ensure its workforce plan is integrated with its financial 
strategy and savings plans, to manage changes in staff effectively and minimise 
the impact on the quality of service provision. Continued reductions in employee 
numbers has led to extensive use of temporary contracts.

91. The council has a targeted voluntary redundancy policy, primarily to address 
financial pressures. It can also use a compulsory redundancy policy to achieve 
financial savings, if required. Further reductions are planned in line with medium-
term savings requirements, with a 31.5 FTE staff cut proposed in 2020/21. 

92. At March 2018, 20 per cent of the council’s workforce were on temporary 
contracts (Exhibit 3, page 12). The council utilises temporary contracts to 
carry out specific projects, for the implementation of service redesigns and to 
help with budget restrictions. The council recognises that the use of temporary 
contracts can create uncertainty for the wider workforce, encourage people  
to seek more stable employment elsewhere and can have an impact on 
employees’ wellbeing. 

93. The council’s current approach to short-term financial planning is limiting its 
ability to effectively plan its workforce. As the key employer in Argyll and Bute, 
the council should consider the impact that the planned year-on-year reductions in 
staff and the use of temporary contracts will have on its key economic objective 
of growing the working age population. 

Staff are concerned over job security and workforce pressures 

94. The council has made progress in working to understand the views of its 
staff and undertook employee surveys in 2016 and 2019. While respondents felt 
increasingly positive about the balance of their employment deal, the 2019 survey 

Page 44

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:u:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Organisational%20culture_action_plan_employee_survey.msg?csf=1&e=aTf9ly


Part 3. Is the council using its resources effectively?  | 37

highlighted issues around communication from senior management, uncertainty 
over job security and recognition. The response rate fell from 23 per cent in 2016 
to 20 per cent in 2019. 

95. In June 2019, using the results from the employee survey and other 
intelligence, internal audit reported on the organisational culture of the 
council. The report identified seven areas for improvement that included: 
better communication from senior management; clarifying the performance 
development review process; improving training programmes and providing 
evidence of the actions taken in response to employee surveys. At December 
2019 the council had completed 11 of its 26 actions in response to the internal 
audit report, but it is too early to conclude what impact these have had on culture 
and staff perception. 

96. As detailed in Exhibit 10 (page 32), savings plans identify projected staff 
cuts in certain services each year. Feedback from a selection of staff that we 
spoke to during the audit said this was unsettling and is having an impact on 
the health and wellbeing of council employees. Staff also reported that they are 
concerned over job security and increased work pressures. They worry about 
having to take sick leave and how this will be perceived.

97. Staff feedback highlighted an example of a council support service not 
having sufficient staff resource to provide basic service provision, adding 
significant pressure to those staff still in place. In response the council had to 
recruit additional members of staff with less experience.

98. As outlined previously in Exhibit 7 continued (page 24), sickness-
absence levels for non-teaching staff have increased significantly over the last 
two years. We have provided a more detailed analysis of this issue and the 
councils response in Exhibit 7 continued (page 24).

Training opportunities should be consistent across all 
geographical areas within the council

99. The council makes active use of an online training portal, and uptake of 
training at middle management level is high. However, frontline staff in rural areas 
highlight challenges around training and development which can be prohibitive for 
those colleagues who live in rural areas and islands, specifically the:

• distance needed to travel to training events

• opportunity cost in terms of time out of the office

• cost of accommodation and public transport.

100.  The opportunity exists to review the support and resources provided to 
staff in rural areas and explore the options for greater use of online training to 
support them in their role. 

Page 45

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:u:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Organisational%20culture_action_plan_employee_survey.msg?csf=1&e=aTf9ly
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:u:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Organisational%20culture_action_plan_employee_survey.msg?csf=1&e=aTf9ly


38 |

Part 4
Is the council working well with its 
partners?

The council has made good progress with partnership working 
and there is a clear structure to support this. 

The Integration Joint Board has had significant staff turnover. In 
2018/19 the council provided additional funding of £3.1 million to 
cover the social services element of the IJB overspend.

The council has developed four Area Community Planning Action 
Plans and should continue to consider how to support local 
communities as they develop their community-led action plans.

The partnership has positive examples of communities improving 
experiences for residents and now needs to focus on the delivery 
of the long-term outcomes.

Communities across Argyll and Bute are resilient and self-
sufficient. The council has a challenging role in reconciling the 
varied needs of its numerous communities. Establishing priorities 
setting out how it can support them will help the council meet 
this challenge. 

Argyll and Bute’s future economic success is dependent on 
effective collaboration with both public and private sector 
partners. The council recognises that it needs to maximise its 
influence with key partners.

The council has made good progress with partnership working 
and there is a clear structure to support this

101. The council has made good progress with partnership working and works 
well with a range of partners including Police Scotland, Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service, third sector organisations, youth groups, Area Community Planning 
Groups, and business partners.

102. The council and its community planning partners articulated their vision in 
the 2013-2023 Argyll and Bute Outcome Improvement Plan (ABOIP). The vision 
that ‘Argyll and Bute’s economic success is built on a growing population’ is 
underpinned by six long-term outcomes:

Page 46



Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 39

• The economy is diverse and thriving

• We have an infrastructure that supports sustainable growth 

• Education, skills and training maximises opportunities for all 

• Children and young people have the best possible start 

• People live active, healthier and independent lives 

• People live in safer and stronger communities.

103. To support the delivery of the outcomes the Community Planning 
Partnership’s (CPP’s) Full Partnership delegates responsibility for various 
aspects of community planning to the CPP Management Committee, four Area 
Community Planning Groups, and the Outcome Leads and delivery plans group 
(Exhibit 11). 

104. There have been a number of changes in representatives from partner 
organisations on the CPP Management Committee in recent years. It is important 
that the council and partners monitor and plan for change to ensure efficient 
handover and continuity of actions.

Page 47



40 |

Exhibit 11
Membership and structure of Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership

Source: Audit Scotland using information from Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership

Area Community 
Planning groups 
oversee the 
implementation of 
the local delivery 
plan, encourage 
partnership working 
and ensure that local 
priorities are met.

Outcome 1

The economy is diverse  
and thriving.

Outcome 2

We have infrastructure which 
supports sustainable growth.

Outcome 3

Education, skills and training 
maximises opportunities  
for all.

Lead: Representative from 
Skills Development Scotland.

Outcome 4

Children and young people 
have the best possible start. 

Lead: Chief Officer of Argyll 
and Bute HSCP.

Outcome 5

People live active healthier  
and independent lives.

Lead: Public health 
representative

Area Community 
Planning groups

Bute and Cowal, 
Helensburgh and Lomond 
Mid Argyll, Kintyre and the 
Islands, Oban, Lorn and  
the Isles.

Outcome Leads  
and delivery plans

Outcomes 1-6 
Outcome Leads are 
responsible for putting 
together strategic 
delivery plans and are 
accountable for them.

Communities in  
Argyll and Bute

The Management Committee includes all statutory community planning partners and chairs of the four 
area community planning groups. Chaired by a representative from the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service, 
the Management Committee is responsible for ensuring effective engagement, joint working, policy 
development, planning and prioritisation and performance management of the ABOIP.

Management Commitee

Outcome 6

We have infrastructure which 
supports sustainable growth.

Lead: Representative from 
Police Scotland

The Full Partnership comprises 33 local and national public bodies as well as representatives from the 
third sector and community organisations. Chaired by the leader of the council, it meets a minimum of 
every two years and is responsible for developing the community plan and ABOIP in Argyll & Bute. It 
reviews progress and sets direction for the CPP.

Full Partnership

Joint leads: Head of Economic Development (Council) and Area Manager for 
Argyll and the Islands (Highlands and Islands Enterprise).

Page 48



Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 41

The council has demonstrated a willingness to improve 
partnership working 

105. The ABOIP is supported by strategic delivery plans that are developed by 
Outcome Leads and reviewed by the CPP Management Committee and Area 
Community Planning groups. In 2019 the council introduced deputy outcome 
leads and deputy chairs of the Area Community Planning Groups to strengthen 
resilience and capacity within the CPP structure.

106. The council’s Community Planning and Development Team has taken 
a lead in facilitating the work of the CPP. The CPP Management Committee 
meet quarterly. Its members include the leads for the six ABOIP outcomes and 
the chairs of the Area Community Planning Groups. The CPP Management 
Committee meetings allow for open and inclusive exchange between partners. 
In its lead CPP role, the council has demonstrated that it has looked for 
feedback from partners and introduced ideas on improving partnership working 
with partners contributing to the CPP improvement plan during annual CPP 
development days.

107. The full partnership includes members from 33 organisations and meets a 
minimum of every two years to oversee the CPP work. As noted in paragraph 36, 
the full partnership does not receive any regular update performance reports for 
review and comment. The council and its partners need to clarify the purpose of the 
full partnership.

The Integration Joint Board (IJB) has had significant staff 
turnover. In 2018/19 the council provided additional funding 
of £3.1 million to cover the social services element of the IJB 
overspend 

108. The Integration Joint Board has experienced significant turnover of key staff 
over the last 18 months.

4
 
5
 The Chief Officer left at the end of September 2018 

and a new Chief Officer was appointed on 1 October 2018. Two chief financial 
officers departed during the year and from 1 December 2018 to 30 June 2019 
interim cover was provided by the council’s Head of Strategic Finance, in addition 
to her normal council duties. 

109. The turnover of senior staff resulted in a reduced focus on delivering 
approved savings. With the temporary appointment of the Head of Strategic 
Finance, there was a marked improvement in the budget monitoring reports 
presented to the IJB board from January 2019.

110. On 1 June 2019, the Interim CFO was replaced by the current Head of 
Finance and Transformation who has retained the form and content of the budget 
monitoring reports and the regular reports on budget outlook, and financial risks 
and has further enhanced financial performance reporting to track progress on 
savings plans. The suite of financial performance reports now available to IJB 
members allows them to monitor, assess and challenge the financial position 
more effectively.

111. The Scheme of Integration states that where financial recovery plans are 
unsuccessful and an overspend occurs at the financial year end, and there are 
insufficient reserves to meet the overspend, then the Partner Bodies will be 
required to make additional payments to the IJB. 

Page 49



42 |

112. In line with the Scheme of Integration the Partner Bodies provided additional 
funding to cover the 2018/19 overspend. The health element of the overspend 
was covered by Scottish Government brokerage and does not need to be repaid. 
However, the overspend on Social Work services must be repaid. Payback 
arrangements have been negotiated with the council for overspends incurred in both 
2017/18 and 2018/19. The money due to the council will be deducted from future 
funding. This is a significant addition to the financial pressures facing the IJB in future 
years and has been included in baseline budgets from 2019/20 onwards.

The council has demonstrated good partnership working practice 
with a broad range of stakeholders 

113. The council, working with a range of local and national stakeholders has 
successfully delivered projects. The council has been proactive in taking a lead 
partner role to ensure projects deliver a positive, long term outcome. 

114. The Syrian Refugee Resettlement Programme (Case study 2, page 43) 
is an example of the council working with partners to deliver a successful project 
and supporting individuals and communities to deliver a positive outcome.

Page 50



Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 43

Case study 2
Refugee Resettlement Programme 

In 2015, the council agreed to resettle Syrian refugee families through 
the Home Office’s Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme. The 
first family arrived in December of that year. By November 2019, 18 (76 
individuals) of the 31 families that had originally been settled on Bute 
were still living on the island. 

The seven children born to refugee families during this time have been 
awarded the same refugee status as their parents. Families who arrived 
in 2015 will soon be applying for settlement in the UK as their current 
refugee status lasts for only five years. 

All refugee families have a support worker who provides welfare and 
budgeting advice. Families are supported to learn English and find 
housing, education and employment. 

In order to provide the best support for the families a Refugee 
Resettlement Group was established. This group comprises 
representatives from: the council resettlement team; education; 
community learning; health and social work; Business Gateway; Argyll 
Community Housing Association; Fyne Homes; Police Scotland; Scottish 
Fire and Rescue Service; the Department for Work and Pensions and the 
Bute Advice Centre. 

Refugee families interested in self-employment were offered support 
to open businesses, through a Home Office pilot programme. 
Business Gateway has provided advice on business planning, helped 
to source funding and assisted with completing application forms. 
Business Gateway has also helped families comply with local authority 
requirements and engage with key council services. This included 
helping individuals to find suitable business premises by engaging with 
the council estates team and Highlands and Islands Enterprise. 

Business Gateway continue to support businesses once they have 
been established and provide advice on local marketing and support 
applications for the small business bonus scheme. 

Successful businesses set up by Syrian Refugees on Bute include a 
patisserie which opened in June 2018, a takeaway and a barber. Several 
individuals have also been involved in volunteering and work experience 
opportunities. 

The UK Home Office manages and funds the scheme and had provided 
a total of £1.7 million by September 2019. The UK Government has 
confirmed it is committed to resettling refugees after 2020 when the 
original programme was due to end. 

Source: Audit Scotland using information provided by Argyll and Bute Council

Page 51



44 |

The council should work with communities and community 
groups to understand and address their concerns in respect of 
the current asset transfer arrangements

115. The council has made progress in implementing the requirements of the 
Community Empowerment Act 2015. It has introduced guidance for processes 
such as asset transfer and participation requests.

116. Since legislation regarding asset transfers came in to force in January 2017 
there have been at least 11 expressions of interest, with three requests submitted 
to the council, and one being approved. Three asset transfers were completed 
before January 2017. This included the transfer of Campbeltown Town Hall to the 
South Kintyre Development Trust in October 2014.

117. Feedback from community focus groups highlighted a perception that 
the current asset transfer processes is complex and does not fully support 
community empowerment to allow community groups to progress transfer 
requests without significant support. The council should work with communities 
and community groups to understand and address their concerns in respect of 
the current asset transfer arrangements.

The council has developed four Area Community Planning Action 
Plans, and should continue to consider how to support local 
communities as they develop their community-led action plans

118. The Community Empowerment Act required CPPs to develop at least one 
locality plan for the area by 2017. The council developed four locality plans, known 
as Area Community Planning Action Plans (ACPAPs) 2017-2020, complementing 
the existing four administrative Area Community Planning Groups. The four 
administrative areas are:

• Bute & Cowal

• Helensburgh & Lomond

• Mid Argyll, Kintyre and the Islands (MAKI)

• Oban, Lorn and the Isles.

119. The council’s approach with ACPAPs was to identify the areas of greatest 
deprivation and in need of improvement. It used a framework called the Place 
Standard tool  to consult with the four areas, which was combined with 
SIMD data, and the Improvement Service’s Community Planning Outcome Profile 
tool to identify the area’s most in need. For example, the Bute & Cowal Area 
Community Planning Action Plan 2017-2020 identified Dunoon and Rothesay as 
areas for targeted CPP activity. The council engaged with communities in 2019 
with the aim of updating the ACPAPs in 2021.

120. Progress against the four ACPAPs is reported to the respective Area 
Community Planning Groups. As of October 2019, the four action trackers showed 
limited progress against the planned actions, with less than half of the actions 
completed within the agreed target dates for three out of four community areas.

The Place Standard 
tool is a Scottish 
Government tool that 
provides a framework 
to structure 
conversations about 
a place. It allows you 
to think about the 
physical elements of 
a place (for example 
its buildings, spaces, 
and transport links) 
as well as the social 
aspects (for example 
whether people feel 
they have a say in 
decision-making).

Page 52



Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 45

121. In addition to the four ACPAPs, 28 smaller communities across Argyll and 
Bute have developed their own plans, which are known as community-led action 
plans, with more communities expressing an interest in doing so. 

122. Community led action plans belong to the community and consist of actions 
that the community themselves are taking forward. It is important to ensure 
that all geographical areas of the council, including islands, are able to access 
assistance in developing their own community led action plans. To ensure all 
topics are considered, it is important that the community led action plans are 
developed and updated for all areas and feed into the current development of 
new ACPAPs. 

The partnership has positive examples of communities improving 
experiences for residents and now needs to focus on the delivery 
of the long-term outcomes

123. The CPP produces annual progress reports against each of the six ABOIP 
outcomes. These include examples of what the partnership has delivered against 
each outcome. 

124. Some examples of initiatives resulting from area community planning  
groups include:

• The Strachur Hub – this is a centre for older people to socialise, exercise 
and have lunch. Its aims were to tackle isolation and support independent 
living. The initiative was put forward by a practitioner nurse and delivered 
in partnership with the Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) and the 
Cowal Community Care Forum. It is supported by the Integrated Care Fund 
of the HSCP. Approximately 37 people, with an average age of 82, meet in 
the hub once a week. They participate in strength and balance exercises, 
T’ai Chi Classes and other games.

• Housing on Jura – the community of Jura had concerns over infrastructure 
and the capacity of utilities and housing after the development of a golf 
course on the Ardfin estate bringing in more employment to the island. 
A short-term working group was set up through the MAKI Community 
Planning Group to look at this and as a direct result, the allocation of 
housing in the Strategic Housing Investment Plan (SHIP) for the Isle of Jura 
was increased from five to 11.

• Weekly sessions for young people with learning or physical disabilities 
in S4,5 or 6 in Oban – this came about as a direct result of the Area 
Community Planning Group and engagement with the initial Area 
Community Planning Action Plan. A focus group was set up between  
the Health and Social Care Partnership, the Education Service and the  
third sector.

• Lochgilphead Community Council working with the Mid Argyll Youth 
Forum: twice a year the community council invite the youth forum to 
meetings to encourage young people to get involved in community 
councils. This was presented to the MAKI Area Community Planning 
Group as good practice and encouraged other community councils in the 
area to make similar linkages with their local youth forums.

Page 53



46 |

125. With limited staff capacity there is a risk that partnership activity falls short 
of expectations and presents a risk to the delivery of projects and schemes. The 
partnership has developed action plans for their six long-term outcomes and 
should ensure it focuses on the delivery of these for the area.

Communities across Argyll and Bute are resilient and self-
sufficient. The council has a challenging role in reconciling the 
varied needs of its numerous communities. Establishing priorities 
setting out how it can support them will help the council meet 
this challenge

126. Communities across Argyll and Bute are diverse with wide-ranging 
needs. Engaging with mainland and island communities in a meaningful way 
and understanding unique local needs and challenges are key to delivering the 
council’s vision and outcomes. 

127. The geography and make-up of the various communities within Argyll 
and Bute makes it more challenging for the council to reconcile the different 
communities’ varied needs. For example, the Isle of Bute and Campbeltown 
have faced economic growth and depopulation challenges. Conversely, Islay and 
Jura have experienced shortages of affordable housing as a result of a booming 
whisky industry and population growth. The council should assess current 
resources to ensure that it can adequately respond to these challenges and liaise 
effectively with affected communities.

128. The council is committed to improving its community engagement, which 
is reflected in three of the eight priorities in the Corporate Plan 2018-2022, 
specifically:

• We support individual and community wellbeing 

• We strengthen and empower our communities 

• We have greener and cleaner communities.

129. There is a dedicated Community Development section on the council’s 
website, providing clear guidance to individuals and groups on how to access the 
council’s community support. The council has demonstrated its commitment to 
understanding local needs by engaging with communities through consultations 
and “we asked, you said, we did” webpage, events, such as charrettes , and 
a digital participatory budgeting pilot.

130. Communities across Argyll and Bute are resilient and self-sufficient, and a 
variety of initiatives have been completed by numerous volunteer community 
groups across the council area. Feedback from communities suggests that the 
council could further improve engagement by:

• more direct communication from the council on what has been done as a 
result of consultation

• greater clarity on the purpose of engagement events to help communities 
make decisions on what to participate in

• recognition of, and action to address, volunteer fatigue. For example, we 
were told that on Islay alone there are 130 volunteer groups

A ‘charrette’ brings 
people together to 
discuss a place and 
how it could work. 
Charrettes are an 
intensive way of 
working, usually 
taking place over 
several days. During 
this time, a design 
studio is set up in the 
area, and everyone 
with an interest 
comes together 
to create a shared 
vision.

Page 54



Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 47

• nominating key points of contact within the council to ‘get things done’

• reducing the complexity and bureaucracy of council processes which are 
perceived to slow down the progress of planned community initiatives

• greater consideration of the place and timing of engagement events and 
meetings, to enable community members to participate and to minimise 
the financial burden on attendees who have to pay their own costs.

131. Reflecting on community feedback, establishing priorities in how it can 
better support communities will help the council meet this challenge.

Argyll and Bute’s future economic success is dependent on 
effective collaboration with both public and private sector 
partners. The council recognises that it needs to maximise its 
influence with key partners

132. The council recognises that it cannot achieve its vision without engaging 
with a range of partners, both within Argyll and Bute and across the UK.

133. In 2014 the council set up an economic forum  to consider the issue of 
population decline from a commercial perspective. In 2016 the forum identified 
tourism and food production (particularly aquaculture) as two clear areas  
for employment growth. It also predicted growth in information technology 
services, marine science and academic research and teaching. The forum 
recommended that the council and its partners focus on supporting tourism  
and food production as well as investing in the four towns of Dunoon, Rothesay, 
Campbeltown and Helensburgh.

134. In 2018 the economic forum reported positive progress, including a  
22 per cent increase in visitor numbers between 2016 and 2018, a 10 per 
cent increase in aquaculture and a 28 per cent increase in student numbers at 
higher education institutions. However, the report noted limited progress on 
improvements to the trunk roads, which, it concluded were a ‘long-term deterrent 
to both tourism and industry’. The economic forum was disbanded in June 2018 
and instead of developing a new business forum, the council has focused on 
developing its proposals for the Rural Growth Deal. 

135. The council considers members of the Rural Growth Deal (RGD) steering 
board  as its key partners in helping to deliver its vision of economic success. 
Agreed in October 2019, the RGD will bring £50 million investment to Argyll 
and Bute over ten years. The deal is funded equally by the Scottish and UK 
Governments. As the RGD has only recently been agreed, investment decisions 
for projects have still to be concluded. 

136. Highlands and Islands Enterprise (HIE), Scottish Enterprise (SE) and Argyll 
and the Isles Tourism Cooperative will help to facilitate engagement between 
the council and local businesses. However, with no economic forum, and limited 
representation from the commercial sector, including food and drink producers on 
the RGD steering board, the opportunities for meaningful engagement with key 
industries in the area are limited. As RGD projects develop and business cases 
are prepared, the council will need to develop effective working relationships with 
businesses to facilitate robust contract negotiation processes. The council should 
consider reinstating an economic forum to provide the opportunity for leadership 
to drive this key outcome and vision.

Members of the 
economic forum 
included business 
and council leaders, 
the Scottish 
Government, 
Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise (HIE), 
Scottish Enterprise 
(SE), the Scottish 
Association for 
Marine Science 
(SAMS) and CalMac.

The steering board for 
the Rural Growth Deal 
comprises:
–  Argyll and Bute 

Council
–  Highlands and 

Islands Enterprise
– Scottish Enterprise
–  Skills Development 

Scotland
–  Argyll and Bute 

Community 
Planning Partnership 
(a private sector 
forum)

–  Argyll and the Isles 
Tourism Cooperative

Page 55

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s136866/180419_LeadersReport.docx.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?sortField=Modified&isAscending=false&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FRural%20Growth%20Deal%20steering%20board%2Emsg&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?sortField=Modified&isAscending=false&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FRural%20Growth%20Deal%20steering%20board%2Emsg&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence


48 |

137. The council must also ensure it balances the needs of successful industries 
with the needs of its communities. For example, as the whisky industry 
continues to grow on Islay, the council will need to work with distilleries to 
manage the impact of the growing population and traffic on Islay on council 
services such as housing and roads.

138. Following the closure of two key employers in Campbeltown (a wind tower 
manufacturer and a creamery) in 2019, the Scottish Government called an 
emergency economic summit in November 2019 to identify potential solutions.  
The summit was directed by Scottish Ministers; the council had no control 
over those attending and the South Kintyre Development Trust (a community 
organisation established in 2011) was not invited. This meant that the Scottish 
Government and thereby the council missed an opportunity to engage with key 
community representatives affected by the closures.

139. Successful collaborative working with Scottish Government agencies and 
other public bodies is also key to supporting the council’s goals of economic 
development. Given the location of Argyll and Bute, bordering both the central 
belt and the highlands and islands, the council often needs to work with multiple 
agencies that sometimes have different priorities. For example:

• For economic development initiatives the council works with both 
SE and HIE. Audit Scotland’s 2016 report on Supporting Scotland’s 
economic growth  noted the different coverage and priorities of HIE 
and SE, with HIE’s additional remit of supporting social and community 
development. This means that HIE support that might be available to a 
business or community group in most of Argyll and Bute is not available to 
Helensburgh and Lomond-based businesses.

• For transport-related issues the council needs to work with both Highlands 
and Islands Transport Partnership and Strathclyde Partnership for Transport. 
When feeding into the Scottish Government’s national Strategic Transport 
Projects Review 2, the council made clear its intentions to be considered 
as part of the Glasgow transport network rather than an isolated area. As 
noted in the final report of the economic forum, investment in the trunk 
road network and improving rail and ferry links across Argyll and Bute will 
be key in supporting the council’s goals for economic development. The 
Scottish Government plan to report the outcome of the Strategic Transport 
Projects review in 2021. 

140. In February 2017 the CPP signed a memorandum of understanding with the 
Royal Navy and the UK Government for:

‘an enduring and mutually supportive relationship between HM Naval Base 
Clyde and Argyll and Bute CPP to achieve maximum benefit for the base and 
the wider community of Argyll and Bute’ 

141. In August 2019, Scottish Enterprise reported on the potential significant 
economic and social opportunities and needs that the planned expansion of 
the base creates. The report estimates that potentially an additional 1,700 jobs 
(excluding construction) would be created, which would bring an additional gross 
value added of £65 million per year to Argyll and Bute.

Page 56

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/:u:/r/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Aileen_Morton_comments_partnership.msg?csf=1&e=121K4g
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/nr_160714_economic_growth.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/nr_160714_economic_growth.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/External%20Sharing%202019-2020/BV30224%20MoU%20Royal%20Navy%20and%20CPP%2020017.pdf
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?sortField=Modified&isAscending=false&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FExternal%20Sharing%202019%2D2020%2FFaslane%20Economic%20Impact%20%2D%20Final%20Report%20for%20Scottish%20Enterprise%20Sep19%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FExternal%20Sharing%202019%2D2020
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?sortField=Modified&isAscending=false&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FExternal%20Sharing%202019%2D2020%2FFaslane%20Economic%20Impact%20%2D%20Final%20Report%20for%20Scottish%20Enterprise%20Sep19%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FExternal%20Sharing%202019%2D2020


Part 4. Is the council working well with its partners?  | 49

142. Other future economic development opportunities include the planned 
expansion of the European Marine Science Park in Oban and the potential 
redevelopment of the Machrihanish airbase into a spaceport.

143. The council recognises that it needs to maximise its influence with its 
key partners. The council needs to improve its ability to influence large partner 
organisations to ensure that when they make key decisions, they fully understand 
the needs of Argyll and Bute and take them into account.

Page 57



50 |

Part 5
Is the council demonstrating continuous 
improvement?

While relationships among elected members and senior  
officers have improved significantly since the previous Best 
Value report in 2015, the pace of change has been slow in some 
areas, particularly in the use of performance management to  
drive improvement.

The council has an improvement framework in place but 
progress against the self-evaluation programme has been slow.

The council’s transformation programme has achieved small-
scale savings but there is limited evidence of transformational 
service redesign.

The council has made good progress in modernising its digital 
infrastructure and is now working on embedding digital skills 
across the council.

The transformation board is now focusing on commercialisation 
to realise its vision of economic success.

The council’s pace of change since the previous Best Value report 
in 2015 has been slow in some areas, particularly in the use of 
performance management to drive improvement 

144. In 2015, the council was subject to a Best Value audit. The Controller of Audit 
and the Accounts Commission acknowledged and welcomed the progress by the 
council since 2013 in relation to improved governance, decision-making and scrutiny 
arrangements and the improving relationships between political groups and between 
members and officers.

145. The report identified opportunities for further improvement in the council’s 
openness, transparency and how it involves its communities in decision-making 
and scrutiny, in order to build the trust and confidence of service users and the 
public. The report concluded that more could be done to ensure a more effective 
contribution from area committees. The Commission also noted their disquiet with 
the dysfunctional relationships which persisted between a number of individuals.

Page 58

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2015/bv_151217_argyll_bute.pdf


Part 5. Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement?  | 51

146. In response to the 2015 report, the council identified 13 actions in its 
improvement plan, including:

• reducing the number of items taken in private

• reviewing and revising the political management arrangements and 
scheme of delegation

• refreshing the training on standards and behaviours for members

• taking a more innovative approach to dealing with financial challenges 
through:

 – developing the Tarbert and Lochgilphead Regeneration Fund, the Rural 
Resettlement Fund and inward investment funds (paragraph 57)

 – the transformation board (paragraph 152)

 – ongoing monitoring of service choice savings and the impact of these 
savings

• reviewing the council’s relationship with its communities - to build trust and 
identify better ways of working 

• implementing all relevant elements of the Community Empowerment 
(Scotland) Act 2015

• revising the induction programme and training arrangements for elected 
members.

147. By April 2017, the council had completed nine of the original 13 actions as 
well as three additional actions that arose from a review of the 2016/17 budget 
setting process. As the majority of outstanding actions related to community 
engagement, the council agreed that the plan would continue to be monitored by 
the community empowerment working group. While the council has delivered 
some significant changes since 2015, such as improvements in elected members 
relationships, progress towards meeting future financial challenges since 2015 
has been slow. Exhibit 12 (page 52) below shows what we reported in 2015 
and what we have found in this audit work. The council needs to make further 
progress against the recommendations in this report.

Page 59



52 |

Exhibit 12
Comparison between the Controller of Audit’s judgements in 2015 and 2020   

Controller of Audit judgement Controller of Audit judgement

Leadership and strategic direction

The council is conducting its business more 
effectively and developing its organisation. 
Political leadership is stable and growing in 
confidence. Decision-making and scrutiny 
are improving. Long-standing political and 
personal differences remain among a small 
number of individuals, which are damaging 
to the council.

The council and its community planning partners have a clear 
joint vision that its 'economic success is built on a growing 
population.' 

There has been a significant improvement in elected member 
relationships resulting in constructive and more focussed 
decision-making.

The changes to the senior management structure have been 
made in line with the council’s vision, and to help support the 
delivery of the council’s corporate outcomes.

Service performance 

The council does a number of things well 
and communities have a generally positive 
view of local services. But the amount of 
public criticism that the council attracts has 
an impact on its reputation among local 
communities and more widely.

The council has worked hard to improve its reputation. The Rural 
Resettlement Fund attracted people to relocate to the area and 
its #ABplace2b resulted in it being the most followed Scottish 
council on Instagram. 

Since our last Best Value report in 2015 performance information 
has been streamlined with the number of delivery outcomes 
underpinning the six corporate outcomes reduced from  
63 service outcomes to 17 business outcomes in 2018/19, with 
shared ownership across all services. The number of success 
measures reduced from 331 to 175.

National indicators show the pace of improvement has been 
slower than other Scottish councils.

Use of resources

The council’s approach to meeting future 
financial challenges needs to improve. 
Options for longer-term savings are heavily 
based on low-level cuts to individual service 
budgets, rather than doing things differently.

The council has responded to its challenging budget outlook by 
creating savings plans and making efficiencies to address the 
annual budget gap. There has not been significant movement to 
address the comments made in our 2015 report in this area and 
the council remains focussed on cost reductions cuts.

Partnership working

This was not within the scope of the 
2015 audit. However, the Shared Risk 
Assessment Process since 2015 did not 
note any concerns with partnership working.

The council has made good progress with partnership working, 
works well with its partners and there is a clear structure to 
support this.

The council and its partners need to review the reporting 
arrangements to monitor progress against outcomes.

Cont.

2015 2020

Page 60



Part 5. Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement?  | 53

Controller of Audit judgement Controller of Audit judgement

Community engagement

The council can operate much more openly 
as a means of building better relationships 
and developing greater trust with its 
communities. It can further improve how 
it involves local people by building on the 
local area committees and local community 
planning arrangements.

Communities demonstrate a resilient and self-sufficient approach 
to improving communities.

Comments from community groups highlight concerns around 
some of their experiences engaging with the council.

The geography and make-up of the various communities within 
Argyll and Bute makes it more challenging for the council to 
reconcile the different communities varied needs. Reflecting on 
community feedback, establishing priorities in how it can better 
support communities will help the council meet this challenge.

Continuous improvement

The council has continued to make 
progress in response to previous Accounts 
Commission findings. The Senior 
Management Team (SMT) is actively 
improving the way it works and the culture 
within the organisation.

The council’s strategy, Planning our Future, 
aims to transform the work of the council 
however the impact that the proposals will 
have on strategic priorities is not clear. There 
is no indication of what sustainable services 
will look like in the future.

The council has made significant improvements against some of 
the key findings from our last best value report.

The council could do more to drive improvement through its 
performance management and self-evaluation programme.

It also needs to clarify its transformation programme in order to 
meet its financial challenges.

Source: Audit Scotland

Exhibit 12 continued

2015 2020

The council has an improvement framework in place but progress 
against the self-evaluation programme has been slow

148. The council introduced a corporate improvement strategy in 2015. This 
outlined plans to improve performance management and benchmarking, improve 
consultation and customer engagement, and introduce self-assessments. While 
some progress has been made in some of these areas (Part 2 for performance 
management, and Part 4 for consultation and customer engagement), the pace 
has been slow. It is not always clear how performance information and customer 
engagement are used to drive improvement activity.

149. The council introduced an improvement framework in December 2017. This 
sets out the council’s approach to self-evaluation. Progress against the plan has 
been slow. The plan stated an intention to complete ten self-evaluation exercises 
per year. At January 2020 only one of the ten teams within the first directorate to 
undertake self-evaluations (customer services) had completed a self-evaluation 
and presented it to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 61

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s101247/Appendix%20One%20Corporate%20Improvement%20Strategy%20V2.3.pdf


54 |

150. The council introduced its corporate improvement plan in September 2017. 
The strategic management team reviews this every quarter. Not all actions have 
dates for completion. At the time of our review, the version on the website was 
over one year out of date. While the plan focuses on corporate improvements, 
there is no one space where other improvement activity is captured, for 
example actions resulting from self-evaluations; actions to address areas of poor 
performance; and actions identified from customer engagement and external 
scrutiny reports.

151. The council is a member of several national groups that share good practice 
and lessons learned. It also regularly reports on performance and national 
benchmarking data (Part 2). However, the council has not clearly articulated how 
performance and benchmarking data has or will inform its improvement activities.

The council’s transformation programme has achieved small-
scale savings but there is limited evidence of transformational 
service redesign

152. In 2017 the council established a transformation board to increase the pace 
and scale of transformation. The short to medium-term focus of the board was to 
challenge services to deliver front line savings via four operating principles:

• business cost reduction

• income maximisation

• service redesign

• self-funding.

153. The transformation board is chaired by an executive director. The board 
meets every quarter and considers detailed business cases and options 
appraisals for each project. Progress reports are presented to the board alongside 
risk registers. 

154. Every council department and trade union are represented on the 
transformation board. After proposals have been approved by the strategic 
management team, they are discussed with senior elected members and policy 
leads, before being presented at a council committee. Examples of initiatives 
resulting from, and monitored by the transformation board include:

• Digital transformation (Case study 3, page 56)

• Rationalisation of offices and of face to face services

• One Council property approach. The council aims to improve estate 
management through the sale or lease of surplus property. In April 2017 all 
council properties were brought under the control of one department

• Review of loans and fees charges

• Sustainable education as part of the Northern Alliance . This involves 
looking at remote learning opportunities and shared headships.

The Northern 
Alliance is a 
collaboration 
between eight 
northern councils, 
which aims to 
improve education 
services across the 
north of Scotland.

Page 62

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/how-we-compare
https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/Forms/AllItems.aspx?viewid=9159039f%2Dab98%2D497c%2Dad51%2Dc0598c422477&id=%2Fsites%2FArgyllandButeCouncil%2FBVAR%2FBV%202019%2D2020%2FEvidence%2FBusiness%20Transformation%20papers
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Unknown/transformation_board_-_terms_of_reference.pdf


Part 5. Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement?  | 55

• Catering and cleaning innovation projects. The council has started to work 
with the schools and the HSCP to identify areas where savings can be 
made, and income can be generated. In April 2019 the total potential 
savings from all options were estimated to be £777,000 per year.

155. The total amount of savings or income generated though these initiatives to 
date is unclear. While a number of efficiency-saving and income generation plans 
are in place, progress has been slow. The impact of completed projects has been 
small-scale and within individual services. Examples of achievements to date 
include the following: 

• Increasing food sales in secondary schools through improved catering 
facilities raised £77,400 in 2017/18, exceeding the £52,400 target

• In January 2018 an events manager was appointed to promote the newly 
refurbished Helensburgh and Lomond Civic Centre as a venue. The centre 
has hosted a number of public and private events. Between January 2018 
and April 2019 events at the centre have generated additional income of 
£40,000. The target is to generate a total income of £90,000 in 2021/22. 

156. There is little evidence of any plans for fundamental large-scale transformational 
service redesign. The location of the council area limits opportunities to adopt 
some of the larger scale transformational changes being adopted by other councils 
in Scotland. For example, the council have considered becoming a commercial 
landlord, but property values in some areas are too low to support a business case 
to do so.

The transformation board is now focusing on commercialisation 
to realise its vision of economic success

157. In March 2019 the transformation board considered a report from the 
Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) on risk and commercialisation. 
It recommended a strategic approach to commercialisation that goes beyond 
piece meal investments and service revisions, as well as early engagement with 
elected members to ensure their buy-in and oversight. The transformation board 
plan to assess the council against the guidance, to ensure that its governance and 
scrutiny systems for commercial activity are appropriate.

Page 63

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Business%20Transformation%20papers/Transformation%20Board%20Papers%202019.pdf
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/assets/File/Risk%20and%20commercialisation%20pdf.pdf


56 |

Case study 3
The council was an early adopter of digital technology 
and is now working on embedding digital skills across 
the council 

Digital technology has been key in overcoming the geographical 
challenges faced by the council. The council has developed its 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) and Digital Strategy 
2017-20 that identifies actions against eight programmes. Over the last 
decade the council has been an early adopter of technological solutions 
to reach out to remote communities and make council meetings more 
accessible. Some examples of this include voice automated services, 
Skype and Keep in the Loop (a sign-up service for email or mobile phone 
alerts). 

The council has developed good practice in customer service and scores 
highly in independent ICT Customer Satisfaction Surveys (SOCITM). 
In November 2018, the council was one of the first of the 19 Scottish 
councils who have undertaken a digital maturity assessment with the 
Scottish Government’s Digital Office. Argyll and Bute Council was 
scored as being on the second step of the five-point scale of digital 
maturity: Open - Developing and Repeatable. The assessment found that 
a digital culture and skills are not as well embedded as they need to be 
for successful digital transformation. The key barriers were insufficient 
dedicated resource and time. The Digital Office recommended that the 
council adopt a holistic approach to digital transformation and ensure 
that existing staff develop appropriate digital skills to allow them to 
operate in an increasingly complex landscape of digital systems and new 
ways of working. 

In January 2019, to address the recommendations made by the Digital 
Office, the council published its digital transformation plan for 2019/20. 
This focused on rolling out digital technology and developing digital 
skills for all council employees. As not all tasks had clear outcomes 
or timelines, it is not clear whether work is on track overall. However, 
as of November 2019, the council had made progress against some 
of the technology-based developments. Examples of these include 
implementing a mobile working solution for HSCP employees and an 
automated system to update customers with bin collection issues.

A digital skills audit is being carried out early in 2020 to support the 
council’s work to develop digital skills across the organisation. 

It is essential the council drives partnership working to improve 
broadband and connectivity, making sure that technology is robust 
and fit for purpose. In line with its 2016 Assisted Digital Strategy, the 
council should take steps to ensure the changes it introduces as part of 
digital transformation continue to work to include communities with no 
broadband or mobile connectivity. 

Source: Audit Scotland using information provided by Argyll and Bute Council

Page 64



Part 5. Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement?  | 57

158. In July 2019, as part of the council’s corporate restructure, the council 
established a new commercial services team  which has taken responsibility 
for a number of transformation projects. Alongside the Rural Growth Deal 
(paragraph 135) commercialisation will play a central role in the council’s 
progress towards its vision. The council is due to publish its commercial strategy 
in 2020.

159. The commercial services team have clearly articulated their plans to foster 
a culture of commercial awareness across the whole council. While this is a 
positive approach, it is too early to conclude what impact it will have. The council 
should continue to ensure it is aware of the wider potential risks associated 
with focusing on commercial services. For example, there is a perception in 
some community groups that LiveArgyll hosting cultural events in their area 
restricts their ability to fundraise (which is traditionally done by selling tickets to 
community-led cultural events).

The commercial 
services team 
has responsibility 
for a range of 
services including 
estates, property 
development, 
catering, cleaning, 
facility management, 
capital projects, 
partnerships, shared 
services and energy 
efficiency.

Page 65

https://auditscotland.sharepoint.com/sites/ArgyllandButeCouncil/BVAR/BV%202019-2020/Evidence/Business%20Transformation%20papers/Transformation%20Board%20Papers%202019.pdf


58 |

Recommendations

On the basis of the work we have completed we make the 
following recommendations to the council to address the 
improvement areas identified in this report:

develop the transformation agenda supported by a medium-term savings plan 
which is affordable and achievable (paragraphs 71–77)

improve performance management reporting to provide a balanced picture of 
long-term trends in performance against its targets (paragraphs 27–33). Use 
benchmarking information to drive continuous improvement (paragraphs 29 
and 151)

increase the pace of change through transformation to deliver the business 
outcomes and this should be monitored and reported on a regular basis 
(paragraphs 152–156)

assess the extent to which regeneration and economic development initiatives 
are delivering the vision and corporate outcomes (paragraph 59). Put in place 
robust options appraisal processes and a benefits monitoring framework, 
proportional to the size of initiatives, to evaluate the benefits and costs of 
future projects (paragraphs 78–84)

work with communities and community groups to understand and address 
their concerns and establish priorities in how it can better support them 
(paragraphs 130–131). This should include engaging with communities 
to understand and improve levels of satisfaction with council services 
(paragraphs 49–52)

work with elected members to improve the uptake of training provided 
(paragraphs 25–26). In particular, elected members’ knowledge of and 
involvement in the performance management process needs to be improved 
to develop wider scrutiny to support improvement (paragraph 31)

improve engagement to ensure staff are bought into the council’s vision. 
Review the support and resources it provides to staff in rural areas to ensure 
that all employees have appropriate access to training to support them in their 
role (paragraphs 99–100).

Page 66



Endnotes

Endnotes  | 59

Endnotes

1 Community Planning Outcome Profile, Improvement Service, CPOP. See the Improvement Service’s website for definitions.

2 Scottish Government - Scottish Surveys Core Questions (SSCQ). Wellbeing is based on the average score on the short version of 
the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale among adults aged 16 years and over.

3 The index is calculated by the Improvement Service using population estimates from National Records of Scotland. It is a 
combined index of three indicators: depopulation - the inverse of population change, Old Age Dependency Ratio - the ratio of 
older people (65 and over) to the working age population (16 to 64), and rural depopulation - the change in the proportion of the 
population living in rural or rural remote areas. A rising index indicates an increasingly fragile demographic.

4 In November 2018 the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts Commission published Health and social care integration: 
update on progress report . We reported that Integration Authorities are operating in an extremely challenging environment and 
there is much more to be done to increase the pace of health and social care integration. We reference senior staff turnover in key 
message 3.

5 In the Accounts Commission’s Local Government in Scotland Financial Overview 2018/19 , published in December 2019. 
Part 4 of the report focuses on IJB and we highlight the issue of senior staff turnover.

Page 67

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2019/nr_191217_local_government_finance.pdf


60 |

Appendix
Best Value audit timeline

October 2015
Syrian Vulnerable 
Persons Relocation 
Scheme launched

July 2014
Audit of Best Value and 
Community Planning - 
follow up audit

April 2016
Cleland Sneddon
appointed as Chief 
Executive

May 2017
Scottish local elections:
Independent, Conservative 
and Unionist and Liberal 
Democrat coalition

2013 2015 20202014 20182016 20192017

October 2013
Argyll and Bute 
Council Statutory 
report 

December 2015
Argyll and Bute Council:  
Best Value audit 2015 

May 2020
Best Value  
Assurance Report

Council 
journey

October 2019
Rural growth deal 
announced

December 2019
Pippa Milne appointed 
as Chief Executive

Page 68



ISBN 978 1 913287 21 4

Best Value Assurance Report

Argyll and Bute Council
This report is available in PDF and RTF formats at:  
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

If you require this publication in an alternative  
format and/or language, please contact us to  
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500  
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 

For the latest news, reports  
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500  E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk 
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk 

Page 69

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/
mailto:info%40audit-scotland.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/follow-us-on-social-media
mailto:info%40audit-scotland.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1
 

Best Value 3 Action Plan
June 2020

Best Value 3 Action Plan – Improving Performance in Argyll and Bute Council

Ref Objective Actions to achieve outcome Success measures Key dates Lead Progress
BV1.1 Revenue

Develop a programme of 
transformational service redesigns that 
can be reflected in a 3 year rolling 
budget setting process. 

Redesign process developed 
and launched

August 2020 Head of 
FS

Preliminary work 
carried out with 
more preparation 
required prior to 
launch in August. 
BCC update paper 
taken in May 2020.

BV1.2 Capital
Complete capital strategy and launch 
revised capital process.

Capital Strategy and process is 
launched

tbc Head of 
CS

BV1.3

Develop the 
transformation 
agenda, 
supported by an 
affordable and 
achievable 
medium to longer 
term financial 
strategy

Financial Planning
Review and update the medium to 
longer term to longer term financial 
strategy 

Reviewed Medium to long  
term Financial Plan is 
approved

Approved as 
part of budget 
process for 
2021/22 in 
February 2021

Head of 
FS

BV2.1 Performance reporting 
presentation clearly reflects 
links

March 2021 Head of 
CSS

BV2.2

Improve 
performance 
management 
reporting to 
provide a 
balanced picture 
of long-term 
trends in 
performance 
against targets. 

Review the approach to performance 
management reflecting:
- Clear links to strategic priorities
- Meaningful indicators, taking account 

of trend data and benchmarking
- The need for a simple and effective 

system for recording and presenting 
data

New performance indicators 
developed

March 2021 Head of 
CSS

P
age 71



2
 

Best Value 3 Action Plan – Improving Performance in Argyll and Bute Council

Ref Objective Actions to achieve outcome Success measures Key dates Lead Progress
BV2.3 New system procured or 

developed in-house
December 
2020

Head of 
CSS

BV2.4 Introduce improved reporting of 
performance information to members 
that support effective scrutiny

Programme of member 
seminars/webinars on 
performance and scrutiny 
delivered

During 
development 
stages of new 
approach

Head of 
CSS/Head 
of LRS

BV2.5 Improve public performance reporting. Review of public performance 
reporting complete 

March 2021 Head of 
CSS

BV3.1 Develop and agree refreshed approach 
to Transformational activity

Themed Transformation 
Programme, including regular 
reporting to members, is 
developed and implemented

tbc SMT

BV3.2 Identify thematic areas of activity and 
explore opportunities to shift investment 
towards prevention and more effective 
and efficient interventions 

Scoping of thematic areas for 
transformational change

tbc SMT

BV3.3 Develop data analytics/business 
intelligence as a tool to inform 
Transformation and Improvement

Options appraisal on data 
analytics approach complete

March 2021 Head of 
CSS

BV3.4 Regular reports on progress to 
elected members

tbc Exec Dir

BV3.5

Implement programme of modernising 
education services. 

Modernisation programme is 
complete

tbc Exec Dir

BV3.6

Increase the pace 
of 
transformational 
change to deliver 
the business 
outcomes 

Make full use of improved technology to 
transform service delivery and reduce 
burden on front line services

Include transformation and 
Digital First as key elements of 
2020 ICT and Digital Strategy 

Dec 2020 Head of 
CSS

P
age 72



3
 

Best Value 3 Action Plan – Improving Performance in Argyll and Bute Council

Ref Objective Actions to achieve outcome Success measures Key dates Lead Progress
BV3.7 Include ICT and Digital as an 

enabling principle in the 
Transformational change

As  3.1 Head of 
CSS

BV3.8 Simplify administrative 
processes by reducing the 
number of ICT applications in 
use by 10%

March 2023 Head of 
CSS

BV4.1 Review options appraisal processes 
and benefits monitoring framework to 
ensure systems are robust and evaluate 
the benefits and costs of projects.

Complete of overall review and 
implementation of actions 
outlined below

April
2022

Major 
Project 
Programm
e Manager 
(MPPM)

BV4.2 Create inter-departmental Project 
Review Team and scope review of 
project process to align to BV3 
Objective

Project Review Plan to be 
approved by Capital 
Investment Board

December 
2020

Major 
Project 
Programm
e Manager 
(MPPM)

BV4.3 Implement updated Project Process for 
Options & Evaluation. 

Launch at Capital Investment 
Board 

April 2021 Major 
Project 
Programm
e Manager 
(MPPM)

BV4.4

Assess the extent 
to which 
regeneration and 
economic 
development 
initiatives are 
delivering the 
vision and 
corporate 
outcomes 

Training / Mentoring for Project 
Practitioners in updated Project Process 
for Options & Evaluation 

Delivery of training recorded April –
September 
2021

Project 
Review 
Team

BV5.1 Work with 
communities and 
community 
groups to 

Engage with communities to understand 
and improve levels of satisfaction with 
council services in order to understand 
and address their concerns 

Develop co-ordinated 
approach to measuring 
satisfaction with communities.

Dec 2021 Head of 
CSS

P
age 73



4
 

Best Value 3 Action Plan – Improving Performance in Argyll and Bute Council

Ref Objective Actions to achieve outcome Success measures Key dates Lead Progress

BV5.2 Trends are measured as well 
as individual survey outcomes

Dec 2021 Head of 
CSS

BV5.3 Gather information from 
communities on what we are 
doing well

tbc Head of 
CSS

BV5.4

Improve the quality of engagement with 
our communities and reflect this in 
service improvements

Identify priorities for better 
future engagement

tbc Head of 
CSS

BV5.5 Implement a programme to improve 
engagement skills across the 
organisation.

Training materials developed 
and programme rolled out

tbc Head of 
CSS/CPP 
Manager

BV5.6 Review and simplify the community 
asset transfer process. 

Process reviewed and 
launched

tbc Head of 
CS

BV5.7

improve 
engagement

Proactively market community asset 
transfer opportunities

Programme of asset marketing 
developed and implemented

tbc Head of 
CS

BV6.1 Training and Development 
Framework completed 

September 
2020. 

Head of 
L&RS

BV6.2

Work with elected 
members to 
improve the 
uptake of training 
provided.

Develop and implement an Elected 
Members’ Training and Development 
Framework 2020 – 2022 that includes:
- participation in Local Government 
Improvement Service Members CPD 
Framework.
- Annual PDP session offered to each 
elected member with a senior member 
of the Governance Team
- Offer all members the opportunity of a 

Information on Local 
Government Improvement 
Service Members CPD 
Framework provided and 
process of recording 
participation by members in 
place

November 
2020

Head of 
L&RS

P
age 74



5
 

Best Value 3 Action Plan – Improving Performance in Argyll and Bute Council

Ref Objective Actions to achieve outcome Success measures Key dates Lead Progress
BV6.3 36 PDP sessions offered October 2020 Head of 

L&RS

BV6.4

development profiling exercise; self-
reflection or ‘360’
- 1-1 Coaching for Senior Elected 
Members. Invitation issued to all 

members
October 2020 Head of 

L&RS

BV6.5
Elected Member Seminar Programme 
developed to incorporate series of 
focused skype development sessions 
which facilitate remote attendance   

Skype seminars programme 
developed

October 2020 Head of 
L&RS

BV 6.6 Enhance provision of on-line learning 
and development activities to increase 
resources and support for members to 
address development needs on a 
remote basis 

On line learning facility 
available

December 
2020

Head of 
L&RS

BV6.7 Encourage attendance at masterclasses 
run by the Local Government 
Improvement Service and the Digital 
Office for Scottish Local Government.  

Information on masterclasses 
provided and process of 
recording attendance by 
members in place

November 
2020

Head of 
L&RS

BV7.1 Improve 
engagement to 
ensure staff are 
bought into the 
council’s vision. 

Review and refresh remote delivery of 
training resources and support

All suitable mandatory training 
has remote delivery option

Dec 2021 Head of 
CSS

BV7.2 Develop and implement employee 
engagement programme that involves 
them in the ongoing transformation of 
the organisation

Plan developed and 
implemented

Dec 2020 Head of 
CSS

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

 ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL    SPECIAL COUNCIL                                                           
             

LEGAL AND REGULATORY SUPPORT          30 JUNE 2020    

CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19)

REVIEW OF THE CONTINUED ROLE OF THE BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
COMMITTEE 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 At the special Council meeting held on 31 March 2020 a report was tabled which 
highlighted the need for the Council to take steps to reduce risks for its 
Members, Staff and citizens arising from Coronavirus (COVID-19), to ensure 
that the Council is able to continue to exercise its essential functions. 

1.2 The Council:-
 Noted the existing emergency powers available to the Chief Executive, 

and agreed the widening of the associated consultation provisions;
 Agreed the temporary arrangements for conducting Council business - 

constitution of a temporary committee known as the Business Continuity 
Committee (BCC) to exercise all of the powers of the Council for a finite 
period of time; and

 Noted the position regarding public access to meetings.
 Agreed that the operation of the BCC be reviewed by the end of June 

1.3 Following a review of the continued role of the BCC, and associated matters, it 
is recommended that Members:- 

i. Agree that all Area Committees and Strategic Committees (with the 
exception of the Policy and Resources (P&R) Committee) scheduled for 
August/ September will resume on a virtual basis, with a restricted 
number of agenda items. 

ii. Agree that the BCC will, in the meantime, continue its role, exercising all 
delegated functions from the Council and the Policy and Resources 
Committee. 

iii. Agree that a further review of the operation of the BCC and committees 
will be undertaken and reported to the Council meeting scheduled for 24th 
September 2020.

iv. Note the log of decisions that have been taken in consultation with the 
Leadership Group, set out in appendix 1.

v. In terms of Section 35 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 1973, 
agree to approve the non-attendance of any member at any meeting of 
the authority for the period up to and including the Council meeting 
scheduled for 24th September 2020.

Page 77 Agenda Item 4



2

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                                                      SPECIAL COUNCIL         
             

LEGAL AND REGULATORY SUPPORT     30 JUNE 2020

CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19)

REVIEW OF THE CONTINUED ROLE OF THE BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
COMMITTEE

2.       INTRODUCTION

2.1 The Council is currently responding to the global Covid-19 pandemic and is 
focused on resilience activity and maintaining critical frontline services.  In order 
to provide capacity and focus in dealing with this response, and adhere to 
advice and guidance from the UK and Scottish Governments, it has delegated 
emergency powers and established a Leadership Group (comprising the 
Council Leader, Depute Leader, and Leader of the SNP Group - as the largest  
Opposition group) to ensure appropriate focus and oversight of decisions.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS

Members are invited to:-

3.1 Agree that all Area Committees and Strategic Committees (with the exception 
of the Policy and Resources (P&R) Committee) scheduled for August/ 
September will resume on a virtual basis, with a restricted number of agenda 
items. 

3.2 Agree that the BCC will, in the meantime, continue its role, exercising all 
delegated functions from the Council and the Policy and Resources Committee. 

3.3 Agree that a further review of the operation of the BCC and committees will be 
undertaken and reported to the Council meeting scheduled for 24th September 
2020.

3.4 Note the log of decisions that have been taken in consultation with the 
Leadership Group, set out in appendix 1.

3.5 Agree to approve the non-attendance of any member at any meeting of the 
authority for the period up to and including the Council meeting scheduled for 
24th September 2020.

4. DETAIL

4.1 BCC Review

4.1.1 At the special Council meeting on 31 March 2020 a decision was taken to put 
a hold on scheduled meetings and constitute a temporary committee, known as 
BCC, to exercise all of the powers of the council for a finite period of time.

4.1.2 The purpose of this report is to review the continued role of the BCC, which was 
to be undertaken by end June 2020.

Page 78



3

4.1.3 The circumstances surrounding coronavirus are ever changing, with advice and 
guidance from the Scottish and UK Governments and Public Health Scotland 
being updated daily. The situation is being continually reviewed by Officers in 
order to inform the options available in terms of returning to a normal committee 
schedule.

Current Guidance

4.1.4 This report has been prepared having regard to the Scottish Government Covid-
19 Routemap, which was published on 21 May 2020.  This document sets out 
a phased approach to easing lockdown, and detailed below are the key 
messages/relevant considerations for the purposes of this report:-

Table 1

Phase Date Key messages/considerations
1 28th May (if 

evidence 
supports)

 As per lockdown, physical distancing requirements in 
place

 Frequent handwashing and hygiene measures for all
 Cough etiquette is maintained
 Permitted to travel locally (5 miles radius) for leisure/ 

exercise purposes
 Remote working remains the default position for 

those who can
 Social distancing measures for those workplaces 

reopening
 No public gatherings permitted (except for meeting of 

2 households, outdoors with physical distancing)
2 To be advised 

(next review 
cycle concludes 
18 June)

 As per above 
 Some relaxation of public gatherings – including:-

 opening of registration offices for high priorities
 Places of worship for private prayer
 Marriages/civil partnerships minimal attendees
 able to meet outside with larger groups 

including family and friends with physical 
distancing

 able to meet people from another household 
indoors with physical distancing and hygiene 
measures

3 To be advised  Physical distancing requirements in place
 Frequent handwashing and hygiene measures for all
 Cough etiquette is maintained
 Can drive beyond local area for leisure and exercise 

purposes
 Remote working remains the default position for 

those who can
 Non-essential indoor office workplaces can open, 

once relevant guidance agreed, including contact 
centres with physical distancing.

 People can meet in extended groups subject to social 
distancing

4 To be advised  Physical distancing requirements to be updated on 
scientific advice

Page 79



4

 Frequent handwashing and hygiene measures for all
 Cough etiquette is maintained
 Further relaxation of public gatherings
 mass gatherings could resume in line with public 

health advice
 Remote and flexible working remains encouraged
 All workplaces open with improved hygiene, in line 

with public health advice

4.1.5 Taking account of this latest guidance it is recommended that it is possible to 
move away from the original lockdown position, however there are still a 
number of restrictions in place which significantly impacts on the ability to 
resume a normal committee structure.  Officers are of the view that it will not be 
feasible to resume full physical, as opposed to virtual, council meetings until 
phase 4 of the Scottish Government roadmap, which is not likely to occur until 
later than September this year.  On this basis, the following arrangements have 
been put in place/are proposed for the months ahead:-

i. July – recess – no formal meetings
ii. August /September – it is recommended that all Area Committees and 

Strategic Committees (with the exception of P&R) are resumed on a 
virtual basis.  Section 43 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 
allows a local authority to conduct a meeting with Members in other 
ways, including remote meetings.  In order to facilitate a smooth 
transition into this next phase it is proposed that initially there will be a 
limited number of agenda items for these meetings, focusing on priority 
areas of business. 

iii. It is recommended that the role of the BCC will continue in the meantime, 
exercising all of the powers of the Council.

iv. A further review of the position will be undertaken and a report prepared 
for the Council meeting scheduled for 24th September 2020.

Decision Making – Leadership Group

4.1.6 The Council’s constitution gives specific delegations to the Chief Executive. 
Section 3 Part C paragraph 3(A)(5) gives the Chief Executive ‘power in an 
emergency situation to instruct executive action on any matter after consultation 
with the Leader or, in his/her absence, Depute Leader of the Council.  This 
provides a basis for any urgent decisions which require to be made in response 
to Covid-19.

4.1.7 On 31 March 2020 the Council agreed that for the life of the Covid-19 crisis the 
consultation by the Chief Executive will be with the Leader, Depute Leader, and 
Leader of the SNP Group where available.  The decisions taken in consultation 
with this Leadership Group are being logged on an ongoing basis and details 
of these can be found in Appendix 1.

4.2 Vacation of Office by Failure to Attend Meetings

4.2.1 Section 35 (1) of the Local Government Scotland Act 1973 provides that if a 
member of a local authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive months 

Page 80



5

to attend any meeting of the authority, he shall, unless the failure was due to 
some reason approved by the authority, cease to be a member of the authority.

4.2.2 Concerns have been expressed that the decisions taken at the special Council 
in March 2020 in response to Covid-19 may have the unintended consequence 
of putting a number of Members within scope of Section 35 of the Act.  To 
remove this possibility it is recommended that the Council agrees to approve 
the non-attendance of any Member at any meeting of the authority for the period 
up to and including the Council meeting scheduled for 24th September 2020.

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 A review of the temporary arrangements for conducting Council business during 
the Covid-19 pandemic, and other associated matters, has been undertaken by 
Officers.  Members are asked to consider/agree the proposals set out at section 
4.1.5 and 4.2 of the report.   

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy – Emergency/urgency provisions put in place, to exist for duration of 
COVID-19 crisis only. 

6.2 Financial – Any costs arising are being recorded in accordance with Scottish 
Government and/or COSLA guidance in the expectation that net additional 
costs will be reimbursed. 

6.3 Legal – Amendment of the powers delegated to Officers and Standing Orders 
agreed at Council meeting on 30th March 2020 in accordance with Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973.

6.4 HR – none
6.5 Equalities/Fairer Scotland Duty – It is not anticipated that any of the 

recommendations in this report will have a potential negative impact on any 
particular group or discriminate on the basis of age, disability, gender, race, 
sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity or religion and belief.

6.6  Socio-economic Duty – none
6.7 Risk – Addresses risk associated with ensuring business continuity and 

resilience, in a manner that creates least risk to public health. 
6.8  Islands – none
6.9 Customer Services – supports arrangements for amending decision making 

framework to support critical customer services.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director with responsibility for Legal and Regulatory Support

22 June 2020 

Policy Lead – Councillor Rory Colville

For further information please contact:- 
Laura Blackwood, Directorate Support Officer – 01546 604325

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

1

Date Decision Group

18th March 
2020

Provision of school meals

Approach to provision of school meals.

Decision
Noted

Leadership 
Group

19th March 
2020

Executive Director recruitment

Suspension of Executive Director recruitment process and maintenance of existing acting-up 
arrangements.

Decision
Agreed.

Leadership 
Group

23rd March 
2020

Mourners at Funerals

Number of mourners permitted at funeral or crematorium services. Advice that mourners should be 
restricted to close family and number able to be accommodated respecting social distancing guidance. 
Preference for one clear decision but noted the changing national advice.

Decision
Agreed

Noted.

Single, clear decision preferred but recognised national decisions may impact; ‘close family’ language at 
the moment as further guidance sought.

Leadership 
Group

23rd March Helensburgh kerbside glass collections Leadership 

P
age 83



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

2

Date Decision Group

2020
Policy decision in relation to suspension of kerbside glass collections in Helensburgh.

Decision
Agreed

Group

23rd March 
2020

School Crossing Patrols

School crossing patrol service will be suspended as staff within vulnerable group and reduced need 
following school closure.

Decision
Agreed

Leadership 
Group

23rd March 
2020

Closure of Customer Service Points

Closure of Customer Service Points to public access unless attending a scheduled meeting.

Decision
Agreed

Leadership 
Group

25th March 
2020

Various closures

Closure of play parks, suspension of pontoons, closure to cruise ships.  

Decision
Agreed but information and messaging on car parking to be circulated to Leadership group prior to issue.

Leadership 
Group

25th March 
2020

Suspension of Waste Services Leadership 
Group

P
age 84



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

3

Date Decision Group

Communications to be issued to all members ASAP in relation to the suspension of waste services. 
Situation will be reviewed on a weekly basis.

Decision
Agreed with additional requests for:-

Press release, clarity on food waste aspect and information on staff safety.

25th March 
2020

Scottish Sea Farms request

Request from Scottish Sea Farms for temporary commercial berthing at Oban breakwater, supported by 
OLI Area Committee.

Decision
Agreed with decision to be communicated to Members.

Leadership 
Group

25th March 
2020

Number of people permitted within crematorium

Request on people permitted to be present within crematorium following staff concerns. Service reviewing 
in terms of operational need/overall resource.

Decision
Agreed with proposal to limit to 8 people.

Leadership 
Group

26th March 
2020

Provision of free school meals

Provision of free school meals to key worker children not normally eligible.

Decision
Agreed.

Leadership 
Group

P
age 85



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

4

Date Decision Group

26th March 
2020

Conversion of Oban Airport PSO plane

Conversion of Oban Airport PSO plane to support landing at Coll without fire cover.

Decision
Endorsed.

Leadership 
Group

26th March 
2020

Suspension requests

Service suspension requests:
Non-critical Building Standards, Planning, Housing and Environmental Health.

Decision
Agreed. 
Economic Growth to focus solely on business support.

Decision
Agreed in principle with more detail/assurance on potential impacts on longer-term activity.

Leadership 
Group

26th March 
2020

Service Suspension requests

Roads, Amenity and Infrastructure Services suspension requests: 

 Glass collection bring sites
 Bin delivery and replacement
 Street light repairs (focus on dangerous defects)
 LED project (focus on dangerous defects)
 Warden service (focus on statutory duties)

Leadership 
Group

P
age 86



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

5

Date Decision Group

Decision
Agreed – all will be kept under review in context of available resources and changing positions.

26th March 
2020

Number of people at graveside funerals

Request to limit people permitted at graveside funerals to eight in line with crematorium position.

Decision
Agreed.

Leadership 
Group

27th March 
2020

Implementation of fees and charges

Seeking delay of implementation of fees and charges (agreed at budget meeting on 27th February) to 
Monday 6th April.

Decision
Agreed

Leadership 
Group

31st March 
2020

Commercial tenants with rent difficulties

Commercial tenants with rent difficulties can have payments deferred for three months, on request and in 
line with national support (initially for noting but shifted to decision).

Decision
Agreed.

Leadership 
Group

3rd April 
2020

Waste Management

The Leadership Group noted the proposal to move to a 2 weekly collection schedule for both green and 
blue bins (to include food waste) as from 6 April 2020.

Leadership 
Group

P
age 87



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

6

Date Decision Group

The Group had been contacted via e-mail and had agreed that the new schedule be implemented.  

Decision
The Leadership Group confirmed the decision to move to a 2 weekly collection schedule.

3rd April 
2020

Mail Arrangements

Arrangements for mail.  Options (local arrangements  consolidation to 9 offices or centralisation to 
Kilmory) have been considered and the recommendations are:

a) Mail will be processed using existing arrangement at Council offices with the opening, sorting 
and scanning of mail on a minimum of a weekly basis. This is to be undertaken by Customer 
Service Points and individual services in consultation with Site and Premises Manager where 
access may be coordinated

b) Relax the Councils customer service standards for responding to written correspondence the 
next 2 months.

c) Issue communication via the website and to key stakeholders that all non-essential contact with 
the Council should be by email, telephone through the contact management centre, or web-
based enquiries.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. To implement the arrangements for mail as outlined; and

2. To the relaxation in the service standards for responses to written correspondence for the next 
2 months with staff being advised that they should endeavour to meet the current standards 

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership

P
age 88



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

7

Date Decision Group

where possible.

3rd April 
2020

Care for People

The Strategic Group noted the request from the Care For People Group for guidance and risk 
assessment information to assist with volunteering when lone working is required.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed that the Council’s Health and Safety team would liaise with relevant parties 
to provide assistance and documentation in relation to lone working.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

6th April 
2020

Education HUBS opening hours

The Strategic Group noted a request from Education in relation to investigating the provision of 
additional operating hours for Childcare Hubs.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed that officers should investigate the options for providing additional childcare 
hours.

Note – decision taken to open HUBS from 8am till 6pm

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

6th April 
2020

Helpline Information

The Strategic Group considered a briefing which outlined the proposal for cover on the Care For People 
Helpline over the holiday weekend.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

Strategic 
Group and 
agreed by 
Leadership 
Group

P
age 89



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

8

Date Decision Group

1. To support the proposal to have the helpline open from 10am till 1pm on both Good Friday and 
Easter Monday, with no cover on Saturday and Sunday as demand is very low; and

2. To refer this to the Leadership Group for decision at their meeting on 7th April 2020.

6th April 
2020

Covid  Homeless pressures

The Strategic Group considered the report relating to Homeless pressures.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. To note the additional provision already made and the extra expense incurred;
2. To support the proposed HSCP mobilisation plans & costs at Appendix A on the basis that 

officers ensure that they work with the Acting Head of Financial Services to maximise the options 
for recovering net additional costs;

3. To make a formal request to RSL Chief Executives to agree in principle to either:
 Make permanent offers to Homeless clients, or Make properties available for 

Temporary accommodation (let by the Council) for Homeless clients.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

6th April 
2020

Accelerated Recruitment

The Strategic Group considered a briefing on the options for accelerated recruitment processes.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed the process for accelerated recruitment.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

6th April 
2020

Council Tax Reminders

The Strategic Group considered a proposal in relation to the issue of reminder notices for Council Tax 
and reflected on the position in other Local Authorities.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 

P
age 90



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

9

Date Decision Group

Decision
They agreed that no follow-up, either text message or reminder notices should be issued, in April 2020 
or May 2020 with a review of the position in the month of May 2020 with a view to starting to issue 
notices from June 2020

Group

6th April 
2020

Council Run Ferry Services

The Group considered a report on the operation of Council Run Ferry Services and particularly the need 
to restrict travel for essential journeys only.

Decision
 The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. To the implementation of the measures outlined to limit non-essential ferry travel; and

2. To note that staff should be asked that clear advice is provided to the ferry crew to exercise their 
discretion and understanding in a proportionate way and on a case by case assessment when 
engaging with customer and applying the guidance.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

6th April 
2020

Recharging for Redeployed Staff

The Strategic Group considered a report which outlined arrangements for recharging for redeployed 
staff, noting that recharging would only be appropriate in certain circumstances such as where there 
was an acting up allowance being paid.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. To approve the updated guidance in relation to recharging for redeployed staff as follows:-

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

P
age 91



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

10

Date Decision Group

a. Where an employee with paid employment gets seconded to another service or to an external 
organisation, the Council will continue with their normal paid employment out of their existing 
cost centre, there will be no recharge;  

b. Where an employee with paid employment gets seconded to another service or to an external 
organisation and has to be paid at a higher grade, the element of responsibility will be charged 
to the other service or external organisation;

c. Where we are creating or increasing contracted hours or having to pay for backfill for a 
continuing service where a secondment was allowed, then this will be charged to the other 
service or external organisation;

d. New High level COVID cost centres will be created for services, e.g. Education, Roads, Social 
Work and these will be used to code either the responsibility or the new/additional contracted 
hours.  The costs within these costs centres, not recharged to external organisations, will be 
included in either the mobilisation cost template for the HSCP or the cost capture template 
for other council services – both of which will be returned to Scottish Government on a regular 
basis.  It is anticipated that additional funding will be provided by Scottish Government to 
cover the costs as a result of COVID-19.

8th  April 
2020

Council Car Parks

The Strategic Group considered a report which provided information on concerns raised by Police 
Scotland in relation to the use of Council car parks at scenic locations despite the guidance in relation 
to non-essential travel.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. That the Council Car Parks at Arrochar, Duck Bay and Luss would be closed; and
2. That a press release would be drafted for issue.

Strategic 
Group and 
agreed by 
Leadership 
Group

P
age 92



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

11

Date Decision Group

Confirmed by Leadership  Group 9th April

9th April 
2020

Dunollie Castle

The Leadership Group considered a request from The MacDougall of Dunollie Preservation Trust in 
relation to proposed works.

Decision
The Leadership Group agreed that the Acting Executive Director would liaise with the organisation in 
relation to the request and provide an update in due course.

Leadership 
Group

9th April 
2020

Move to 7 day death registrations

The Strategic Group considered a paper which provided options which would enable the Council to fulfil 
the request from the Scottish Government to move to provide a 7 day a week death registration service.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed in principle to endorse the approach outlined as Option 2 subject to 
clarification that this option would still allow for the relevant daily data returns to be made to the Scottish 
Government on a Saturday and Sunday.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

9th April 
2020

Insurance for Voluntary/Community Groups

The Strategic Group considered a briefing which provided recommendations in relation to insurance for 
voluntary/community groups.  This would allow these groups to benefit from cover provided by the 
Councils’ insurers with the cost being covered by the Council.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed to the proposals outlined in the briefing which could involve additional 
expenditure up to £6,800.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

P
age 93



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

12

Date Decision Group

9th April 
2020

Wellbeing Action Plan

The Strategic Group considered a report which provided information on a Wellbeing Action Plan.  It was 
noted that work had already commenced on a number of the actions which were included in the Plan.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed the actions contained within Wellbeing Action Plan.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership  

15th April 
2020

Oban BID application for grant

The Strategic Group considered a request for support in relation to the submission of an application for 
grant from Oban BID.  It was noted that officers should liaise with the group in relation to the submission 
of the bid and that the relevant Policy Lead should be kept updated.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed to support the request from Oban BID, and requested the Head of 
Development and Economic Growth, subject to discussion with the Policy Lead, to provide the relevant 
endorsement to the application. 

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by the 
Leadership 
Group

22nd April 
2020

Framework for Recovery

The Strategic Group considered a report which outlined the Council’s framework for the Recovery 
process. 

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. In the absence of a national recovery strategy, it is appropriate to convene the Recovery 
Group and that the Head of Development and Economic Growth is asked to implement 
the Strategy, supported by the Regulatory Services Manager and other Council/HSCP 
staff as appropriate;

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

P
age 94



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

13

Date Decision Group

2. That the overarching principles outlined in 2.4 of the report are approved;
3. That the Chief Executive write to partner agencies and other key stakeholders as 

appropriate inviting them onto the recovery group;
4. That there should be regular progress reports taken to Strategic for approval, including 

the detailed recovery plan.

22nd April 
2020

Travel to testing facilities

The Strategic Group considered a report which provided information on the proposals for staff testing 
and asked for agreement on reimbursement of travel expenses.  It was noted that the 15p per mile 
figure was in line with current terms and conditions and had been agreed in consultation with the Trade 
Unions.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed that travel expenses for employees required to travel to and from testing 
centres, including where required the facility at Glasgow Airport will be paid in line with those currently 
reimbursed for travel to occupational health appointments at 15p per mile.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

24th April 
2020

The Leadership Group considered a report which sought agreement of the future arrangements for 
provision of free school meals.

Decision
The Leadership Group agreed:-

1. That free school meal provision should now move to being via a food parcel or other method 
instead of a prepared meal received in school;

2. That all families with children who are entitled to free school meals will be contacted and asked 
for their preferred method of delivery;

3. That officers should ensure that if contact is not made with families that appropriate follow up 
protocols are in place.

Leadership 
Group

P
age 95



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

14

Date Decision Group

24th April 
2020

The Leadership Group considered a request from Police Scotland for the closure of Kidston Car Park 
with immediate effect.

Decision
The Leadership Group agreed the closure of Kidston Car Park with immediate effect.  

Leadership 
Group

29th April 
2020

Covid-19 Volunteering and age-related risk

The Strategic Group homologated the decision which had been made via e-mail in relation to the 
increase in volunteer age to 65.

Decision
The Strategic Group agreed to:-

1. Support the decision to increase the age of volunteers doing outside activities to 65 years in line 
with the age brackets outlined in the report;

2. Recognise the risks of increased morbidity and mortality in Covid-19 infections as people age; 
and

3. Support the intention of the Caring for People Partnership to reduce the population wide risks 
associated with Covid-19 in all volunteering activity.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership 
Group

20th May 
2020

Contact Tracing

The Strategic Group considered a report which provided information on the proposed arrangements for 
contact tracing and testing and sought agreement on the preferred way forward.

Decision

The Strategic Group agreed:-

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership

P
age 96



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

15

Date Decision Group

1. To note the report, and agree in principle to support Option 3;

2. That work is undertaken by Council and HSCP to prepare for option 3, including further discussions 
between NHS Highland, Council and HSCP; and 

3. That a further report be taken to Strategic Group by the Regulatory Services Manager and the 
Associate Director of Public Health for the HSCP, outlining the contact tracing arrangement and 
issues.

20th May 
2020

Positive Feedback

The Strategic Group considered a report which provided information on positive feedback received 
during the current Covid-19 crisis.

Decision

The Strategic Group agreed:-

1. That the report is forwarded to the Leadership Group for consideration; and
2. That following consideration by the Leadership Group, the report is circulated to all staff and 
Elected Members in a suitable format for their information.

Strategic 
Group and 
noted by 
Leadership.

28th May 
2020

Cruise Ships – Loch Striven

The Leadership Group considered a report which outlined concerns raised by local Elected Member in 
regard to the berthing of cruise ships in Loch Striven.

Decision

The Leadership Group agreed that the Chief Executive should write to Peel Ports on behalf of the 

Leadership 
Group

P
age 97



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

16

Date Decision Group

Council to express concern over the berthing of cruise ships in Loch Striven.

11th June 
2020

Restarting Debt Recovery

The Leadership Group considered a report which sought agreement on the restarting of debt recovery 
across the Council.

Decision

The Strategic Group agreed to proceed with first two steps (text reminders and soft reminders) with a 
further update to Leadership at that stage outlining response to initial steps, comparison to position in 
normal circumstances, and estimate of costs involved in proceeding to summary warrant stage.  

Leadership 
Group

11th June 
2020

Discretion for Business Support Grants – Multiple Properties

The Leadership Group considered a report which detailed information on a discretion which can be 
applied in respect of Business Support Grants where a business has multiple properties registered for 
NDR.

Decision

The Leadership Group agreed to the proposal to use discretion to award additional business support 
grants for businesses which satisfy the criteria outlined in the report.

Leadership 
Group

18th June 
2020

Community Food Project – Policy Proposals

The Leadership Group considered a report which outlined proposals for the provision of food going 
forward to those entitled to free school meals, those who are shielding and those who are classed as 
vulnerable.

Leadership 
Group

P
age 98



Appendix 1 - Decision Log – Leadership Group 

17

Date Decision Group

Decision

The Leadership Group considered the options as presented in the report and agreed the following for 
the 3 client groups:-

1. Option 3 for free school meal pupils, the provision of vouchers at a level of £12 per week to be 
paid at a frequency to be advised;

2. Combined options 1 and 2 for vulnerable; reduced demand and the stopping for fresh food 
provision; and

3. Option 2 for shielding, stopping fresh food provision noting that Scottish Government ambient 
parcels will continue while eligible.

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 BEST VALUE ASSURANCE REPORT - ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL
	bv_200521_argyll_bute Appendix 1
	Contents
	Key facts
	Commission findings
	Audit approach
	Exhibit 1. Key areas of focus for our audit
	Key messages
	Part 1
	Does the council have clear strategic direction? 
	Argyll and Bute Council covers a diverse geographical area, withan ageing population placing additional demand on services
	Exhibit 2. Population change of Argyll and Bute and Scotland, by age group between 1998 and 2018
	Exhibit 3. Argyll and Bute Council’s workforce
	Untitled
	Changes to the senior management structure have been made in line with the council’s vision, and to help support the delivery of the council’s corporate outcomes. These have resulted in a loss of experience at a time of challenging priorities and decreasing resources
	Exhibit 4. Changes in the senior management of Argyll and Bute Council between 2016 and 2019
	Elected member relationships have improved significantly, resulting in constructive and more focused decision-making
	Exhibit 5. Political make-up of Argyll and Bute Council
	Members need to take advantage of the training opportunities provided to remain aware of, and respond to, the demands, challenges and expectations made of a modern elected member

	Part 2
	How well is the council performing?
	The council’s performance reporting makes it difficult for thecouncil to demonstrate progress against its six corporateoutcomes
	Public performance reports do not provide a clear picture of how well the council is performing against its corporate outcomes
	The council is making improvements to its performance management framework, but it is too early to conclude what impact this will have
	Performance has improved in more than half of the national community outcome indicators
	National indicators show that the pace of improvement has been slower than for other Scottish councils
	Exhibit 6. Argyll and Bute Council LGBF relative performance 2014/15 to 2017/18The percentage of indicators in the top two quartiles increased from 30 per cent in 2014/15 to 36 per cent in 2017/18, but around one-third of indicators are in the bottom quartile every year.
	Exhibit 7. Trends in performance for selected LGBF indicators for economic development, environmental and corporate services between 2014/15 and 2018/19
	Exhibit 7. continued
	Exhibit 8. Trends in performance for selected LGBF indicators for education, childrens and adult social careservices between 2014/15 and 2018/19
	Service satisfaction improved in over half of the indicators but satisfaction with refuse collection has declined
	Exhibit 9. Percentage point change in satisfaction between 2012/15 and 2016/19Satisfaction improved for four of the seven LGBF satisfaction indicators.
	Following five inspections from Education Scotland over two years, the council has strengthened its leadership of education services and recognises that further improvements are required in services for vulnerable children and community learning
	The council has demonstrated a commitment to incorporating equalities throughout its work and demonstrates clear examples of good practice

	Part 3
	Is the council using its resources effectively?
	The council’s three-year budget recognises the financial pressuresfacing the council. The latest financial forecasts project a fundinggap of between £9.8 million and £34.9 million between 2020/21 and2022/23
	The council has good financial planning arrangements in place but could take steps to enhance its long-term strategy
	The annual budget process and savings plans have successfully achieved financial balance and the transformation programme has delivered some efficiencies and achieved small scale savings. Further work is required by the council to better align its financial and transformation plans to drive meaningful change through new and innovative ways of working
	Exhibit 10. Council savings proposals in 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21
	The council needs to put in place a robust options appraisal process to ensure that decisions support social and economic outcomes
	Case study 1. Rothesay Pavilion
	A detailed strategic workforce plan is in place, but it is too early to comment on how successful this will be in creating a workforce able to deliver transformational change
	While the council has had some success in its ‘Growing Our Own’ scheme, it is too early to assess if this will be sufficient to address the shortfall in experienced staff required to support the transformational agenda
	Staff are concerned over job security and workforce pressures
	Training opportunities should be consistent across all geographical areas within the council

	Part 4
	The council has made good progress with partnership workingand there is a clear structure to support this
	Is the council working well with its partners?
	Exhibit 11. Membership and structure of Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership
	The Integration Joint Board (IJB) has had significant staff turnover. In 2018/19 the council provided additional funding of £3.1 million to cover the social services element of the IJB overspend
	The council has demonstrated good partnership working practice with a broad range of stakeholders
	Case study 2. Refugee Resettlement Programme
	The council should work with communities and community groups to understand and address their concerns in respect of the current asset transfer arrangements
	The council has developed four Area Community Planning Action Plans, and should continue to consider how to support local communities as they develop their community-led action plans
	The partnership has positive examples of communities improving experiences for residents and now needs to focus on the delivery of the long-term outcomes
	Communities across Argyll and Bute are resilient and self-sufficient. The council has a challenging role in reconciling the varied needs of its numerous communities. Establishing priorities setting out how it can support them will help the council meet this challenge
	Argyll and Bute’s future economic success is dependent on effective collaboration with both public and private sector partners. The council recognises that it needs to maximise its influence with key partners

	Part 5
	Is the council demonstrating continuous improvement?
	The council’s pace of change since the previous Best Value reportin 2015 has been slow in some areas, particularly in the use ofperformance management to drive improvement
	Exhibit 12. Comparison between the Controller of Audit’s judgements in 2015 and 2020
	The council’s transformation programme has achieved small-scale savings but there is limited evidence of transformational service redesign
	The transformation board is now focusing on commercialisation to realise its vision of economic success
	Case study 3. The council was an early adopter of digital technology and is now working on embedding digital skills across the council

	Recommendations
	Endnotes
	Appendix
	Best Value audit timeline


	BV3 Action Plan v1. (003) Council

	4 CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19) - REVIEW OF THE CONTINUED ROLE OF THE BUSINESS CONTINUITY COMMITTEE
	Appendix 1 - Decision Log - Leadership Group - final




